

Walden University ScholarWorks

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection

2022

Parenting Black Daughters: The Parenting Experiences of Previously Incarcerated African American Males.

Sarai D. Hollis Walden University

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/dissertations



Part of the African American Studies Commons, and the Family, Life Course, and Society Commons

Walden University

College of Psychology and Community Services

This is to certify that the doctoral dissertation by

Sarai D. Hollis

has been found to be complete and satisfactory in all respects, and that any and all revisions required by the review committee have been made.

Review Committee
Dr. Tracy Jackson, Committee Chairperson,
Human and Social Services Faculty

Dr. Delores Langston, Committee Member, Human and Social Services Faculty

Dr. Richard Rogers, University Reviewer, Human and Social Services Faculty

Chief Academic Officer and Provost Sue Subocz, Ph.D.

Walden University 2022

Abstract

Parenting Black Daughters: The Parenting Experiences of Previously Incarcerated

African American Males.

by

Sarai D. Hollis

MS, Walden University, 2017
BS, Southern Illinois University-Carbondale, 2008

Dissertation Submitted in Partial Fulfillment
of the Requirements for the Degree of
Doctor of Philosophy
Human and Social Services

Walden University

August 2022

Abstract

Having a parent incarcerated can have a major effect on children. As it is difficult for the child, it is also difficult for fathers to be away from their children. African American males suffer from various issues revolving around not being present in their children's lives. African American males are one of the largest populations of men incarcerated, and that has a strain on their relationship with their children during and after their release from incarceration. The purpose of this generic qualitative study was to gain a better understanding of the parenting role of African American males while incarcerated to help them become better parents upon their release. The participants were formerly incarcerated African American males with at least one daughter. The researcher applied a qualitative research design using John Bowlby's stages of attachment theory. The research question for this study examined how incarceration impacts African American fathers' parenting experience with their daughters. Through purposive sampling, eight African American males from rural areas who had been released from prison between 5-15 years and had at least one daughter provided a detailed account of their lived experiences in semi-structured in-depth telephone interviews. Braun and Clark's data analysis method was used to identify the themes and patterns in the data. Findings included eight themes, examples include: being actively present and building a healthy attachment bond to establish father-daughter relationships. This study fills the existing literature gap and supports positive social change by encouraging and promoting services to increase awareness of parental incarceration of fathers.

Parenting Black Daughters: The Parenting Experiences of Previously Incarcerated African American Males.

by

Sarai D. Hollis

MS, Walden University, 2017

BS, Southern Illinois University-Carbondale, 2008

Dissertation Submitted in Partial Fulfillment
of the Requirements for the Degree of
Doctor of Philosophy
Human and Social Services

Walden University

August 2022

Dedication

First and foremost, without having faith in God, I would not be writing this dissertation or this dedication. With God, all things are possible, and I dedicate my entire being to God!

I dedicate this dissertation to my children, Shamari, Alpha, and Amari-ah, who believed in me and motivated me to continue to push through this journey. I have tried my best to be the most incredible role model and mother to pave the way for each of you to have your own road to success. Thank you for being patient with me through these years and growing with me; I love each of you dearly, my three babies. Go out into the world and be fabulous!

I also dedicate this dissertation to my father, the late Donald Woodson, I know you are smiling hard and bragging about your baby girl. I miss and love you! I also dedicate this dissertation to my mother, Barbara Woodson; with your strong-mindedness to be a successful woman and mother, I have overcome minor obstacles that have made me the woman I am today, and I thank you. Love your Rai! I also dedicate this dissertation to my big sister, Marissa, who has always, and I mean ALWAYS, had my back; she has always been the best sister anyone could ask for, and I am forever grateful for you. I love you, Re! I could not leave out my strong-minded and stern brother Umoja who has always provided me with great business advice. Your baby sister did it! To my other siblings, I thank you for being supportive and motivating me to continue my journey. I love each of you!

It's one person who I must include in my dedications who has been in my corner for many years. He has never complained about the long nights, stressful days, missed meals (when I didn't feel like cooking), or even the ugly attitudes; he would always say "ok, bae," and let me continue with my rants. Ronnie, I dedicate this dissertation to you for always believing in me, never leaving my side, and listening to me gripe and complain. Even when I wanted to give up, you pushed me to get back on task; even when I was struggling with Chapter 2, you were right by my side. I am forever grateful for you and appreciate you sticking with me. We made it!

Last but not least, I would like to dedicate this dissertation to all the fathers who have been incarcerated or are still incarcerated, fighting for, holding on to, or building their relationship with their children, especially those who participated in my research study. I appreciate each participant for sharing their experience and providing a voice for other fathers. Thank you!

Acknowledgments

I thank God for the strength to make it this far in my education. I am at a place in my life where I feel I can provide others with the education and resources to help build better families and communities. I would like to acknowledge my committee, especially Dr. Tracy Jackson, who continued to push me to keep going and not give up. Dr. Jackson, I thank you for your continued support, motivation, and guidance throughout my journey. You ROCK! I want to thank my Second Committee Member, Dr. Delores Langston, for her support and guidance to keep pushing forward. Again, to my children, I thank you for being with me along my journey. To my mother and siblings, thank you for believing in your baby girl and little sister to take the lead in becoming the first in our family to hold this title. Thank each of you. Ronnie, thank you for your continued patience, love, and support. I love you! In the words of Nelson Mandela, "It always seems impossible until it's done." It's DONE!

Table of Contents

Chapter 1: Introduction to the Study	1
Problem Statement	3
Purpose Statement	4
Research Question	5
Theoretical Framework	5
Nature of Study	6
Assumptions	7
Scope and Delimitations	7
Limitations	8
Significance	9
Summary	9
Chapter 2: Literature Review	11
Introduction	11
Literature Search Strategy	12
Theoretical Foundation	13
Incarcerated African American Fathers	21
Barriers Faced by African American Fathers	26
Father-Daughter Relationships	30
African American Father-Daughter Relationships	35
African American Daughter's Academic Achievement	37

Sexual Activity Among Daughters	38
The Impact Incarceration has on Children	40
African American Men and Parenting after Incarceration	49
Summary	54
Chapter 3: Research Method	64
Introduction	64
Research Design and Rationale	64
Role of the Researcher	66
Methodology	67
Participant Selection Logic	67
Instrumentation	69
Procedures for Recruitment, Participant, and Data Collection	70
Data Analysis Plan	72
Issues of Trustworthiness	73
Ethical Procedures	73
Summary	74
Chapter 4: Results	76
Introduction	76
Settings	76
Demographics	77

Data Collection	79
Data Analysis	80
Evidence of Trustworthiness	81
Credibility	81
Transferability	82
Dependability	82
Confirmability	83
Results	83
Summary	105
Chapter 5: Discussion, Recommendations, and Conclusion	107
Introduction	107
Interpretation of the Findings	108
Daddy is No Longer Here	109
Theme 1: Actively present and build healthy attachment bonds	110
Theme 2: Building "good" father-daughter relationships	110
Theme 3: Exploration, reasons for being away, and reassurance	111
Theme 4: Keeping in contact and how often.	111
Theme 5: Negative implications on why daddy is behind bars	112

Theme 6: Rule enforcement, involved in decisions, and having a fatherly role		
	while incarcerated.	113
	Theme 7: Relationship status upon release and now.	114
	Theme 8: Daddy's girl	114
	Limitations of the Study	115
	Recommendations	115
	Implications	117
	Conclusion	118
	References	120

Chapter 1: Introduction to the Study

McLeod and Tirmazi (2017) stated that fathers' involvement in their children's lives is beneficial; however, incarceration disrupts family relationships. Due to incarceration, African American fathers' removal from the home disrupts families and weakens their social networks in communities, causing more burden on their children's lives (Lewis & Hong, 2020). African American fathers' incarceration causes their children to be susceptible to living in poverty or at greater risk for homelessness (Lewis & Hong, 2020). According to the Bureau of Justice Statistics (2018), the U.S. prison population went from 190,794 in 1970 to over 1.5 million men by 2016. According to the Federal Bureau of Prisons (2020), 38.5% of incarcerated inmates are African American males. Upon their release, African American fathers face barriers when returning to their communities, making it difficult for them to reestablish a relationship with their children (Williams et al., 2019). Garretson (2016) stated that African American fathers deal with consequences that limit their abilities to do for their children as they would like after incarceration. Lack of education, vocational skills, and employment history are only a few of African American fathers' struggles after their release from incarceration to provide for themselves and their children (Garretson, 2016).

Chapter 1 included background information on the topic and highlighted the importance of this generic qualitative study. The chapter consists of the problem statement, purpose statement, theoretical framework, and the nature of the study. Other sections included in the chapter are definitions, assumptions, scope and delimitation, limitations, significance, and a summary.

Background

Emory (2018) shared that incarcerated father is separated from their children, and incarceration may be stressful for the child. Campbell and Winn (2018) found that parent-child relationships serve as models for the child's future relationships. A multifamily study on father-child relationships also showed how fathers connect and support their children during and after imprisonment (McKay et al., 2018). According to Tasca (2018), many incarcerated fathers were not living with their children before being involved with the justice system. Yet, they were engaged in other ways, such as being financially supportive and spending time with their children (Tasca, 2018).

On the other hand, Emory et al. (2020) showed that African American fathers with a history of incarceration provided less formal and informal support, less in-kind support, and accumulated more arrears than those African American fathers' who have not been incarcerated. Keefe et al. (2017) conducted five studies based in Syracuse, New York, and indicted that policymakers look down upon African American fathers for their lack of involvement in fulfilling their parental roles in the lives of their children. The criticism stems from the policymakers' views of African American fathers' lack of providing economic support and ignoring other forms of nurturing and parental involvement to their children (Keefe et al., 2017).

Kirk and Wakefield (2018) mentioned how parental incarceration could be more harmful to children than maternal incarceration due to the father's role as the leading financial provider and protector. Hanley (2018) expressed how formerly incarcerated fathers were ecstatic and thrilled to be addressed as parents, expressing their love for their

children. The fathers reflected that their bonds with their children before incarceration were strong but later became frayed and distanced over their incarceration sentence (Hanley, 2018). Skinner-Osei and Steptoe-Watson (2018) expressed that incarcerated African American fathers' struggle with reunification into society as family life and caring for their child may be dominated by fear of not living up to their potential as a father. Charles et al. (2019) stated that fathers' perspective of their parenting experience from prison to reentry back into society is to clearly understand the connection between fatherhood and community reentry after incarceration. During this time of reentry into their child's life, fathers are navigating and attempting to step back into their social roles and family responsibilities to help improve the adverse child outcomes such as poorer health, academic, social, and behavior outcomes (Turney, 2018).

Problem Statement

Studies from 2018 show that 1 in 10 African American men was in prison or jail (Sentencing Project, 2018). Parks and Donson (2018) shared that paternal incarceration has significant negative consequences on the socioemotional aspect of a child's life. A father's lack of involvement with their child due to incarceration has a negative effect on child outcomes such as lower health, academic problems, behavior issues, and social distractions (Charles et al., 2019). Yaros et al. (2018) sought to understand how a father's release from incarceration affects the child's wellbeing. Western and Smith (2018) discussed that economic uncertainty is linked to formerly incarcerated fathers' adverse effects on the child's welfare.

According to Campbell and Winn (2018), father-daughter relationships are essential for a daughter to understand their development and build a close-knit bond with their father. Based on the study's findings (Campbell & Winn, 2018), daughters would like to see more engagement from their fathers during their developmental growth (i.e., supporting and helping them learn as they become young adults). Sentino et al. (2018) discovered that daughters whose fathers were involved in their lives were less likely to become sexually active and pregnant at an early age and have better wellbeing. Andersen (2018) stated that girls are prone to suffering the consequences of having their father incarcerated or convicted of a crime.

Although the research regarding the welfare of father-daughter relationships after incarceration provided essential findings, I found no research that has addressed African American fathers' perspectives and their parenting experience after release from incarceration. Brunton-Smith and McCarthy (2017) state that a father's transition back into his parental role after release from incarceration has been linked to better child and family outcomes. Further research is warranted to address the problem of incarcerated fathers in society (Mears & Sirenic, 2016).

Purpose Statement

The purpose of this generic qualitative study was to explore incarcerated African American fathers' perspectives as absent parents and how absence may have affected their parenting skills once they are released. This study's target population was African American males (ex-offenders) incarcerated during the early years of their daughters' lives and kept in contact with them during their sentence. For this generic qualitative

study, I interviewed African American fathers to explore their overall perspective as parents and their relationships with their daughters after incarceration.

Research Question

How does incarceration impact African American fathers' parenting experience with their daughters?

Theoretical Framework

Attachment theory will provide the framework for this generic qualitative study to address the father's role and relationship with their child after release from incarceration. Attachment theory focuses on children's "lived experiences" and the bonds developed with caregivers that show secure attachments as they grow older (Vaughn et al., 2016). Based on the study's purpose and the literature gap, I will attempt better to understand Bowlby's attachment theory of father-daughter relationships. Bowlby's (Scharfe, 2017) attachment theory focuses on the psychological connection between a child and their caregiver, who have been separated for periods throughout the child's early life (Cherry, 2019). I explored the four stages of attachment theory within which the father-daughter relationship falls apart. The four types of attachment are: secure, avoidant, resistant, and disorganized/disoriented (Scharfe, 2017). According to Scharfe (2017), secure attachment is when children develop trust in their primary caregivers' responsiveness and availability. Avoidant attachment is when children do not feel comfortable with their primary caregiver, and they avoid building a bond or attachment (Scharfe, 2017). When a child feels the attachment is unpredictable, they become inconsistent, often switching from clingy to angry (Scharfe, 2017). Disorganized attachment is usually in children

whose parents are abusive (physically, emotionally, or sexually) (Scharfe, 2017). As van Zendon (2019) stated, attachment is a significant milestone in a child's first few years. This time is considered the most sensitive period for attachment, whose effects last throughout their life.

Nature of Study

Qualitative methodology was appropriate for this study because qualitative research relies on data collected from interactions between the researcher and participant from the following sources: interviews, focus groups, observations, documents, or other written materials (Kisley & Kendall, 2011). Creswell (2013) stated that researchers could use a qualitative approach to collect in-depth data from multiple reports within a case description and case themes. Purposeful sampling was the sampling method to recruit African American fathers' who meet the criteria of the proposed study to provide indepth information about their parenting experience after release from incarceration. The current study included data from fathers' experiences conveyed through their viewpoint, perception, or fractional truth of their parenting experience (Reczek, 2014). I conducted semi-structured interviews with African American fathers to understand their interactions and experiences, whether positive or negative, regarding their relationship with their child. Findings from the study may be used to enhance African American fathers' and daughters' relationships.

Definitions

African American father: A biological father of African American descent who may or may not reside with their child (Madhavan & Roy, 2012).

Father-child attachment relationships: Interactions between a father and child during the child's first years of life (Bowlby, 1969).

Fatherhood: Resident and nonresident fathers provide more than financial support for their children (Marsiglio et al., 2000).

Father involvement: Direct involvement, accessibility, and responsibility for the child's daily needs (Adamson, 2018).

Incarceration: Confinement in jail or prison (Turney, 2014b).

Parent-child relationship: The emotions connected to and familiarity of a parent and their child (Kelley et al., 2014).

Assumptions

Several assumptions are necessary for this study. I assumed each participant had a daughter with whom they had some relationship to complete the study. I also assumed that the fathers had experience related to the topic, such as being absent from their daughters, which may have impacted the father-daughter relationship. I also assumed participants were honest and forthcoming during the interview process. I assumed the interviews for this case study provided adequate data to show the need for more research on this topic. Assuming there were themes to show that African American fathers' absence does influence their lack of parenting skills.

Scope and Delimitations

This study addressed the literature gap regarding African American fathers' parenting role after their release from incarceration. African American fathers' role as parents is still valid in their child's life. Whether absent or present, Western and Smith

(2018) discussed the adverse effects of the child's wellbeing when they have an imprisoned parent, looking at the parent-child interaction during incarceration. Studying African American fathers' parenting experiences after release from incarceration will allow their voices to be heard and their experiences to be shared. Based on the perceived gap in the literature, I chose to exclude other racial groups and women and focus on African American fathers to learn about their parenting styles and skills with their children and how they mended their relationships after being away for an extended time. The population for this study was further limited to African American fathers living in rural, low-income communities.

Limitations

Limitations in this study included gathering specific information from fathers that may strengthen the analysis for additional variables that may predict fathers' involvement in their child's lives during incarceration (McLeod & Tirmizi, 2017). Additional information such as the father's family history, employment earnings, and incarceration history may show his involvement in his child's life (McLeod & Tirmazi, 2017). Another limitation was getting fathers to provide their stories about how they understand their role as formerly incarcerated African American fathers. Personal bias can cause friction between the researcher and participant, affecting the data collected. According to Hammarberg (2016), qualitative sample sizes should be large enough to gain enough data to define the phenomenon of interest and answer the research question. Limitations in this generic qualitative study included the incapability to attract the sample size needed to get

essential data; in return, it may cause unintentional conclusions or deficient generalization findings (Vasileiou et at., 2018).

Significance

This study's significance benefited African American fathers released from prison by providing a sense of relationship goals and parenting perspective with their daughters. A more robust understanding of the relationship-building process between a father and daughter highlights unique features that influence closeness, which may offer guidance to elevate family dynamics and improve family strengths by caring for their daughter's development (Campbell & Winn, 2018). Results within this study will contribute to social change, giving fathers a better understanding of how their absence impacts their daughters' development during and upon release from incarceration. Yaros et al. (2018) stated that specific measures should be considered to maintain and enhance father-child relationships while incarcerated to improve the likelihood of a positive, healthy father-child relationship following the father's release. Tasca (2018) suggested that policymakers and practitioners promote parental involvement and child and family well-being, focusing on father engagement while incarcerated.

Summary

This study provided an inclusive research study of African American fathers' parenting experiences after release from incarceration. A generic qualitative research design was used in this study, focusing on attachment theory. Completing interviews and gaining personal knowledge about father-child relationships and parenting roles were used to collect data. Chapter 2 of this study provides a more in-depth review of the

literature relevant to this study's overall foundation and background. More resources will be used to provide the information necessary to understand African American fathers' parenting roles after release from incarceration.

Chapter 2: Literature Review

Introduction

As stated in the previous chapter, this generic qualitative study explores incarcerated African American fathers' perspectives as absent parents and how absence may have affected their parenting skills once released. This study's target population is African American males (ex-offenders) incarcerated during the early years of their child's lives and who have stayed connected with them during their sentence. Therefore, for this generic qualitative study, I will interview African American fathers to explore their overall perspective as parents and their relationships with their children after incarceration.

There are five sections in this chapter that will be covered. The first section briefly introduces the chapter and the purpose of this generic qualitative study. The second segment will explore the literature search strategy and keyword findings on African American fathers' parenting experience after incarceration. The third portion details the theoretical foundation based on John Bowlby's attachment theory, its origin, and significant theoretical propositions. The fourth part will provide a literature review on key variables and concepts based on African American fathers' parenting experiences after release from incarceration. This literature review will be divided into five topics centered around African American fathers. The topics include incarcerated African American Fathers, barriers faced by African American fathers, African American father-daughter relationships, the impact incarceration has on children, and the last topic will discuss African American fathers' parenting after incarceration. I will then summarize Chapter 2.

Literature Search Strategy

Searching for literature on recently released incarcerated African American fathers was not accessible under the Human and Social Services database. Instead, several library databases and search engines were used to find the little available literature. I found literature in the Criminal Justice Database, SAGE Journals, SocINDEX, and Social Work Abstracts within the Walden University Library database. Google Scholar became a helpful search engine as well. Key search terms such as the following were used to conduct searches that provided the literature for the topic: African American and/or African American, male and/or father and/or parent, incarceration and/or jail and/or imprisonment, and/or confinement, parent-child and/or father-daughter, relationships and/or parenting. These were the key search terms used to gather literature related to the topic within the last five years. Each group of words was used in every search engine to gain the best results. Using the terms described, I found little research that focused on African American fathers' parenting experiences after release from incarceration.

Most of the literature provided information about incarcerated fathers or incarcerated mothers. There was little to no literature on African American father-daughter relationships during incarceration or parenting after incarceration. With little to no literature on this topic, it can be hard to conduct data without previous findings or studies to build on. While conducting research, I found some literature that provided insight on African American fathers and incarceration and how parenting plays a role in their absence from their children. Further research is needed on African American fathers' parenting experience after release from incarceration to understand African

American fathers' parenting roles better as parent-child relationships develop. This research must provide resources and data to show that African American fathers' parenting roles and experiences are essential in their children's lives.

Theoretical Foundation

Researching the topic of African American fathers' parenting roles after the release of incarceration, I considered attachment theory as the best fit for this proposed study. Attachment theory is the collaboration of John Bowlby and Mary Ainsworth's research findings during the 1950s (Bretherton, 1992). As Bretherton shared, Bowlby created the blueprint for attachment theory that included many concepts revolving around ethology, control systems theory, and psychoanalytical thinking. According to Bretherton, after Ainsworth returned from Uganda, she and Bowlby teamed up to conduct the first study of empirical attachment on infants' and mothers' attachment relationships. Both theorists worked jointly and individually to contribute their findings and experiences, conducting research and data with families on the discoveries of attachment theory. Ainsworth went on to test and expand on Bowlby's research on attachment theory which led to new findings used in current literature and data (Bretherton, 1992).

Attachment theory dates to Bowlby's educational background and experience working with families and children. Attachment theory originated from Bowlby's scientific training and instruction in what is now known as developmental psychology, which led to his career in child psychiatry (Senn, 1977b). Bowlby's volunteer work at a maladjusted school for children helped persuade his career goal to study family relationships (Senn, 1977b). Bowlby was later introduced to Melanie Klein, a significant influence at the British Psychoanalytic Institute, where he studied medicine and

psychiatry (Bretherton, 1992). Through Bowlby's training analysis with Joan Riviere, he was exposed to Klein's ideas of child psychoanalysis, and later, he planned to counter Klein's ideas in his research (Bretherton, 1992; Klein, 1932). Bowlby's involvement with many studies led to the formulation of attachment theory and the first attachment study (Bretherton, 1992).

Bowlby's studies included his first empirical study based on case notes at the London Child Guidance Center. World War II halted his career as a child psychiatrist, but that helped him lay the foundation for his career as a researcher (Bretherton, 1992). Bowlby's work at Tavistock Clinic in London gave him the experience of statistical methodology expertise, which led to his paper titled "Forth-Four Juvenile Thieves: Their Characters and Home Live" (Bowlby, 1944). Bowlby was named the head of the Children's Department at Tavistock Clinic in London, which he renamed the Department for Children and Parents after World War II ended (Bowlby, 1949). In 1948, Bowlby hired and worked alongside James Robert, who helped observe hospitalized and institutionalized children separated from their mothers (Bretherton, 1992). This was the emergence of attachment theory, and two years later, Bowlby's and Mary Ainsworth's collaboration alongside three other workers contributed to Bowlby's attachment studies (Bretherton, 1992). As the years went on, Bowlby encountered several theorists, researchers, and other people contributing to his research findings on family relationships in child therapy and mother-child separations.

Bowlby considered attachment theory a protective and comforting relationship between two humans, whereas Ainsworth viewed it as individual differences in the importance of attachment (Crittenton, 2017). Bowlby also described attachment theory as

a child's tie to their mother going beyond the scope of disruption through separation, deprivation, and bereavement (Bretherton, 1992). Bowlby later came up with four stages of attachment. The four stages of attachment theory are broken down as follows: birth through 6 weeks known as the "pre-attachment phase," 6 weeks to 6-8 months known as "attachment in the making phase," 6-8 months to 18 months to 2 years of age known as "clear cut attachment phase," and 18 months to 2 years & older known as "formation of reciprocal relationship" (Bowlby, 2008). Ainsworth expanded on Bowlby's attachment stages, created three attachment patterns, and later added a fourth pattern: secure attachment, anxious-avoidant insecure attachment, anxious resistant insecure attachment, and disorganized attachment (Ainsworth et al., 1970).

Phases of attachment recognized by this theory are the pre-attachment phase, the attachment in-making phase, the clear-cut attachment phase, and the formation of a reciprocal relation. The pre-attachment phase is between zero to 6 weeks. Here the child recognizes the caregiver or the mother using voice recognition. The attachment-making phase occurs between 6 weeks to 6 to 8 months (Strand et al., 2019). The child starts gaining trust in the caregiver; he can start learning different caregiver's faces but is not much choosey. Children now fully know their caregivers from 6 to 8 months and 18 to 24 months, and if separated, they express discomfort. Their social skills also grow in these phases (Tyrell & Masten, 2021). The last phase is the formation of reciprocal relations between 18 to 24 months and beyond. Children can learn their limits and boundaries and negotiate for their needs.

There are four types of attachment, according to the theory. The first is secure attachment, where we have a healthy relationship between the child, parent, society, and

environment. Second is resistant, who tend to seek approval, distrust caregivers, and are emotionally dependent due to the environment they grew up in (Crittenden, 2017). Thirdly, these people avoid emotions and feel unloved and insignificant; it is hard for them to express and feel emotions even when they grow up (Warren et al., 2019). The last category is the disoriented type who has anger issues and is always running from emotional relationships because they cannot manage them (Warren et al., 2019). Attachment theory is a theory that has been widely used to explain some behaviors in individuals.

Bowlby emphasized that mothers are the core of their children; whereas fathers had their uses in the child's life, they played second to the mother. A father's primary role was to provide emotional support to the mother, the dominant parent (Bretherton, 1992). In this study, African American fathers may have experienced a lack of attachment theory when separated from their children for long periods. MacDonald (1992) expressed that a father's affection is shared by showing love, interchange emotions, and shared enjoyment with their child, supporting the child's affiliative system that promotes social and cognitive competence. Lamb and Stevens (1978) discussed how fathers and other adult caregivers outside mothers form an attachment relationship with their child during infancy. Attachment between a father and child is characterized by accurately perceiving and responding to the cues and needs of their child (Ainsworth & Bell, 1970). Pleck (2007) mentioned that a father's involvement might promote child development because the father's involvement promotes secure attachment. On the other hand, Pinto and Figueiredo (2019) stated that adults develop meaningful relationships based on their attachment tendencies, including memories, beliefs, and expectations that shape how they may think or feel about their role in the relationship. For fathers who have been

incarcerated, their attachment tendencies may have disconnected from their child over long periods, causing the child to withdraw from the father-child relationship (Pinto & Figueiredo, 2019).

Bowlby produced several key assumptions about attachment theory and children; these major theoretical propositions are appropriate for applying to this study. Bowlby discussed how attachment theory played a part in the lives of children from infancy through childhood with the assumptions presumed. The first assumption includes attachment or bonding behaviors regarded as adaptive, expanding individuals' survival capacity (Bowlby, 1969). The second assumption is the development of tendencies predominantly shaped during the early years affected by sensitive cues and events (Bowlby, 1958). The third assumption consists of children developing a need to pursue their primary attachment figure as the most accessible and responsive during stressful and threatening situations (Bowlby, 1958). The fourth assumption is that infants seek support from individuals they prefer the most, usually their mothers (Bowlby, 1958). In the fifth assumption, the tendency towards a key attachment caregiver grows from support and compassion during social interactions and frightening contexts. However, providing food or relief from discomfort does not affect this fondness (Bowlby, 1958). The sixth assumption is experienced with caregivers over a period that shapes beliefs, expectations, feelings, remembrances, and behaviors about self and other individuals, known as social relationships (Bowlby, 1973). The last assumption based on Bowlby's research is persistent separation from a familiar caregiver or constant changes in the primary caregiver, impeding the formation of adaptative attachment behaviors and displaying problems later in life (Bowlby, 1958).

The bond between an infant and caregiver is significant. Theories of parent-child relationships have focused on how parents shape their child's behavior and emotions. Secure attachments are characterized by a child feeling safe and confident around their parent, while insecure attachments occur when they feel distant or avoid their parent. These attachments have impacted a child's behavior and emotions, affecting the parentchild relationship (Waters et al., 2018). The rationale for attachment theory is based on early relationships between the infant and caregiver, which provides the foundation for later development (Van Rosmalen et al., 2016). Bowlby (1982a) stated that attachment theory was an alternative to psychoanalytic theories of objective relations to clarify three aspects. The first characteristic is why ordinary separation should cause anxiety, the second is the connections between adult and childhood mourning, and the third is defensive processes. Bretherton (1985) stated that mothers tend to become the favored attachment figure in Western cultures while fathers tend to become the preferred playmates, which several authors documented. Gaining a better understanding of a father's role as a parent will help rationalize the missing concepts of father-child relationships being equal to a mother-child relationship.

Parent-child relationships are complex and multi-faceted phenomena. Numerous theories seek to explain and predict the development and functioning of parent-child relationships. One such theory that has been extensively studied in psychology is attachment theory (Chatoor et al., 2021). Attachment theory hypothesizes that parent-child relationships are characterized by attachments between parent and child (Chatoor et al., 2021). I will present in this research study opinions from different scholars paying

attention to the study of African American father-daughter relationships using attachment theory.

In the past two decades, a growing body of literature has emerged on fatherdaughter relationships, with much of the research focusing on the role of attachment in these relationships. Waters et al. (2018) examined the role that coherence of discourse and secure base script, two components of adult attachment theory, play in the excellence of people's associations with maternities and romantic partners. They hypothesized that the strength of a secure base script would be positively connected to the value of children's affiliations with parents and the excellence of their affairs with beloved children. The coherence of discourse would be positively correlated to the feature of their dealings with parentages. Fletcher et al. (2021) examined the role of affection in the African American community through the lens of father-daughter relationships. Their research has been attentive to the unique role of the African American father, who is often characterized as a more active, engaged, and sensitive figure in his daughter's life than his white counterparts. However, while the African American father has often been characterized as an attachment figure, our understanding of the role of attachment in father-daughter relationships is still in its nascent stages (Chatoor et al., 2021). This is especially true concerning how families experience discrimination and how they may be marginalized by broader society.

Further studies show that racism and discrimination are linked to attachment theory. In a study, Coard (2021) argued that racism and discrimination are "growing points" for further study in attachment theory, which has traditionally focused on the relationship between parents and their young children. In conjunction with this study,

Koehn and Kerns (2018) point to the relationship between parents and their children as a critical aspect of attachment theory and research, primarily focusing on the attachments between children and their parents. Further, Cooper et al. (2019) argue that the relationship between children and their parents is as meaningful as that between children and their caregivers.

This proposed research study is understanding African American fathers parenting role after the release of incarceration. According to McLeon (2009), Bowlby stated that children come into the world pre-designed to form attachments with others, to help them survive because the contributing factor of affection is not food but care and responsiveness. Bretherton (1992) stated that by exploring the fundamentals of future attachment theory, others would need to exercise similar bravery in expanding, increasing, and challenging it. Another research analysis on how the approach has been applied similarly to this current study is slim to none.

Attachment theory relates to this proposed study because it allows this study to recognize African American father-daughter relationships after release from incarceration. The challenge is to see how incarceration impacted African American fathers' relationships with their daughters over some time. As Van Rosmalen et al. (2016) stated, attachment theory is a steady nurturing relationship between an infant and one or more delicate caregivers developing a healthy relationship. With African American fathers being absent in their child's lives due to incarceration, they may or may not produce a nurturing, healthy father-child relationship before their incarceration.

Attachment theory will allow the researchers to understand better when and where the attachment bond has been broken. The research question is related to the existing theory

by connecting the bonding relationships between a child and its father, who was present as a care provider at some point in their lives, financially, emotionally, or physically. The challenge is when and how the bonding relationship between father-daughter was broken and then repaired for a healthier relationship.

The current state of my research in the field of parent-child relationships is based on the attachment theory. The foundation of attachment theory is that all children need secure relationships with their caregivers to feel safe and avoid developing psychological disorders. Secure connections are characterized by a close, loving bond between the child and the parent based on the caregiver's ability to provide the child with what they need for emotional and physical safety. The secure base is a keystone of attachment theory and is the foundation on which all other aspects of the theory are built.

Incarcerated African American Fathers

Children are being raised without their fathers present in their lives. Wagner and Rabuy (2016) stated that the United States has the highest incarceration rate globally. According to Lewis and Hong (2021), most African American fathers are not uncommitted as portrayed by the diverse media and literature; instead, they are confined in cells. This is evident in the proliferating rates of prison in the United States. According to research conducted by the Bureau of Justice Statistics (2018), an upsurge in the growth of the United States prison has been evident up to 2016. In 2016, the growth rate was reported to have declined (Lewis & Hong 2021). The prison population accommodates approximately one million people, following Bureau of Justice statistics for a significant year.

These African American fathers have been subjected to mass incarceration. Unfortunately, Turney and Conner (2019) noted that the impact of a father's jail incarceration has rarely been examined compared to prison incarceration. When it comes to young African American men and prison, it also stated that men between the ages of 20-and twenty-four who did not complete high school or get a GED had a greater chance of being incarcerated than employed (Fullilove, 2020). Regardless of whether a father is incarcerated in jail or prison, in 2014, African American men made up less than 6% of the total United States population but were 39% of the male population in jail, according to the United States Census Bureau conducted in 2014 (Lewis & Hong, 2021). The absence of these African American fathers is associated with disrupting their families and forming feeble networks among the families.

Some repercussions include reducing general family income and leaving the children in poverty, prompting the need to justify the root cause of the incarceration. Browning et al. (2018) stated that fathers usually play a significant role in families. Therefore, this advocates that their absence from incarceration is associated with many social implications. According to Brunton and McCarthy (2017), in the incarceration process, the families have suffered from financial difficulties and the subjection of the children to diverse problems. Often, the pressures of caring for these children are directed to other parents and kins (Lewis & Hong 2021). This is evident in that most of these fathers are the sole providers for their families before incarceration, so this accounts for their absence attracts various consequences (Lewis & Hong, 2021).

The question that remains is why many African American men are incarcerated.

According to Fullilove (2020), in past research, this question brings about the history of

the harsh drug law created back in the 1930s by Harry Aslinger. As Aslinger referred that Negros, Hispanics, Filipinos, and entertainers were the largest group of people in the U.S. that smoked marijuana (O'Neil, 2020). O'Neil stated that at least 100,000 people of that population, along with their jazz and swing music and the use of marijuana, may have sparked white women to seek relations with men of these cultures. Harry Aslinger's racial tactics began the evolution of the war on drugs that several presidents followed up over the coming years (Lewis & Hogan, 2021).

The root cause of the incarceration of African American fathers is also associated with the war on drugs. According to O'Neil (2020), the enactment of the federal legislation in the 1970s advocated the war on drugs. The implementation influenced the occurrence of mass incarceration (Lewis & Hogan, 2021). The fight against the war-initiated offenders' sanctions to control drug use instead of curbing its use accelerated the rate of offenders' arrests (Moore, 2017). Lewis and Hogan (2021) stated that the initiation of these drug policies led to the implementation of longer terms of imprisonment, and the subjection after their release is associated with more incidences of racism. Concurring to Wagner and Rabuy (2016), the bias in the administration of law enforcement practices, such as the convictions and the subjection to communal-based programs, has also led to the control of mass incarceration.

The relationship that exists between crime and incarceration is sometimes challenging to establish. Carson (2018) mentioned that the effect of mass imprisonment had been a contentious issue since the government confines more African American men for significant periods. The same problem is also difficult to establish because discrimination against African American men is evident in everyday offenses (DeGiorgi,

2017). Pfaff (2017) claimed that only about 16% of state prisoners are incarcerated for drugs, while the war on drugs is not exclusively responsible for mass incarceration. In 2016 there were 1900 exonerations of the wrongfully accused; 47% of those exonerated were African Americans (National Association of Advancement of Colored People, 2021).

As the years went on, drug use became more popular and more accessible for African Americans to become targets for prison. The 1986 Anti-Drug Abuse Act was created to have mandatory minimum sentences for federal drug offenders; this act was extensively considered a racially distinct impact that deprived African Americans (Enders et al., 2018). An example of how the Anti-Drug Abuse Act works is it sets a minimum sentence of 5 years without parole for possessing 5 grams of crack cocaine, which is mainly used by African Americans, compared to the same punishment of having 500 grams of powder cocaine, used by Whites (Enders et al., 2018). As a result, African Americans get the same amount of time or, in most cases, more time for possessing the least number of drugs as Whites (Folk et al., 2016). The use of drugs between African Americans and Whites is comparably at the same rate; however, the percentage of drug charges put African Americans almost six times that of Whites sentenced to prison (National Association of Advancement of Colored People, 2021).

African American men have a higher incarceration rate than other races regarding race and prison. African Americans are incarcerated at more than five times the rate of Whites (National Association of Advancement of Colored People, 2021). The National Association of Advancement of Colored People (2021) also mentioned at least three hundred million people are in jail or prison; this number has drastically changed over the

years; between 1980 and 2015, the numbers have changed from nearly 500,000 to 2.2 million. Carson (2018) stated that 18 and 19-year-old African American men are 11.8 times more likely to be imprisoned than White men of the same age. Studies have shown that African Americans represent 5% of illicit drug use, 29% who get arrested, and 33% of those charged for drug charges (National Association of Advancement of Colored People, 2021). According to Moore (2017), more African American men are incarcerated in the United States than the total prison population in nine countries, including India, Canada, Japan, Germany, Argentina, Lebanon, Finland, Israel, and England.

Racism has been an issue in the African American community, especially regarding men and prison rates. Western and Sirois (2019) stated that the labor market shows racial inequality resulting from incarceration, criminal stigma, and network support. William et al. (2019) shared that most researchers do not examine the impact of cultural race-related stress; instead, the focus is only on the effects of individually and institutionally mediated racism. On the other hand, Kerrison (2018) mentioned that cultural racism views African Americans as criminal drug users and dealers, compared to White drug users who are regarded as sick and in need of treatment. Kovera (2019) stated that cultural inadequacy of institutional policies such as the "three-strikes' law for drug-related offenses, individual bias in the African American communities, and over-policing add to the unequal frequency of African American men in the criminal justice system.

When it comes to African American men, their chances of staying out of prison are slim to none, especially in low-poverty communities. Pettit and Gutierrez (2018) shared that, like other forms of criminal justice; incarceration is unreasonably concentrated among men, especially African Americans who are from low poverty areas

and have low education status. Kaeble (2018) described how nearly half of African American men (48.9%) are arrested or have been arrested by the time they reach 23 years of age. Kaeble (2018) also mentions that one in every fifty-five adults is under parole or probation in the criminal justice system. Phelps (2017) compared those numbers to show that African American men are 3.4 times more likely than white men under probation or parole supervision. Research expounds that most African American men usually return to prison within five years of release (Lewis & Hong 2021).

Generally, the correctional fallibilities are primarily situated in rural areas.

Therefore, this accounts that these African American men are transferred to various facilities, thus reducing their contact with their children. Shlafer et al. (2020) revealed that the relevant number of long sentences had hindered the bond between father and child. Most of the media and literature that focuses on parental incarceration elaborates on its consequences on the women and the children as the initial caregivers. According to Welch (2019), it is also notable that criminal justice policies do not advocate the consequences for African American fathers. The prison is believed to record African American men's existence and facilitate the subjection of the fathers (Smith, 2017).

Barriers Faced by African American Fathers

African American men face as many if not more barriers as any other race regarding fatherhood. In the United States, one in every nine children has a parent who is in prison (The Century Foundation 2021). According to Western and Smith (2018), this is exceedingly high compared to White children, who 1 in every 57 children have a parent in prison. In The United States, thirteen percent of the population is composed of African Americans, yet 40% of the incarcerated parents are African American (The Century

Foundation 2021). This shows that incarceration is widespread in African American parents. Siennick (2016) stated that once these fathers are in prison, they lack time to be with their families, significantly impacting their children.

Having an absent parent incarcerated can cause more harm than good economically and financially. On the other hand, Arditti (2016) mentioned that the incarceration of an absent parent could provide a sense of relief to families in domestic violence, child maltreatment, or blatant misconduct. On the other hand, Roubinov et al. (2016) stated that parental involvement is one of the most notable changes from a devoted analysis of fatherhood, a theoretical concept involving commitment, availability, and accountability. However, Cooper et al. (2019) shared that there is a lot of negative representation of African American fathers in research studies that displayed their lack of support and low income. Coakley et al. (2016) shared studies also show how father contributions influence risk-taking and self-harm behaviors within their child that are often infrequent and underreported.

Regarding inequality among African American men, they are among the top contesters for misdemeanor offenses. Baumgartnet et al. (2018) revealed that excessive and unnecessary traffic stops are another barrier impoverished communities face. Studies on the local level show that despite the similarities in crime rates or rate of offending, African American men are excessively monitored and stopped by the police (Stuart, 2016). Baumgartner et al. declared how African Americans are more likely than Whites to be stopped by the police and receive something as little as a citation; for this reason, other views underline a discriminatory system designed to crush people of color. On the

other hand, Enders et al. (2018) shared that many racial disparity increases are refined from back in the 1980s and possibly connected to the crack epidemic.

With little to no statistics available on how African American fathers interact with their children, it is hard for researchers to gather helpful information. Alternatively, the National Institution of Justice (2017) mentioned that research has focused on more children with a parent incarcerated rather than parents involved in other phases of the justice system. It states that both parents may share similar risk factors and needs. On the other hand, Icard et al. (2017) mentioned not many statistics are available on how non-residential or absent African American fathers should be involved with their children. However, some research showed that African American fathers are engaged in socializing and modeling being respectful citizens in their community and having self-respect (Abbdill, 2018).

Imprisonment of African American fathers leads to financial complications for their families, who are left to fend for themselves. Studies have shown that many fathers viewed work as the leading financial provider as an essential aspect of their parenting role; they also associate being a good father with being a good provider (Icard et al., 2017). Many incarcerated African American fathers are the sole breadwinners of their families (The Century Foundation 2021). Once these fathers are imprisoned, it increases the cases of child poverty in the country (Siennick, 2016). Once the father is imprisoned, the family's average income decreases by 22% (The Century Foundation 2021).

Child poverty due to the imprisonment of the father may lead to stress for the children. This is because the children must adjust and cope with this new situation. The children must first cope with the stress of missing their fathers; they must also deal with

the stress of child poverty (Pettit& Sykes, 2017). Stigmas accompany the poverty caused by the parent's incarceration, leading to little community and social support (Siennick, 2016). The National Institute of Justice (2017) shared that a family's income is 22% lower during parent incarceration and 15% lower after the parent is released from incarceration.

Little information is ever spoken on the mental health of African American fathers to help them become great fathers to their children. Contrary to the African American father's psychological experience, they also lack the support of mental wellness to help build their foundation as a primary caregiver (Icard et al., 2017). However, Langley (2016) expressed African American fathers are present in their children's lives. Being present in their children's lives, African American father's also experience parenting stress, which is correlated with substantial challenges in caring for their children and bitter and undesirable parenting behaviors (Arditti, 2016). It is also reported that fathers transitioning to parenthood for the first-time places them at risk for depression, especially low-income African American fathers (Cabrera et al., 2018).

Incarceration is considered a health risk and stressor for men entering incarceration and being released. According to Pettit and Gutierrez (2018), incarceration introduces acute shock to the inmates' immune systems, which affects their health both short and long term, during and after incarceration. Nowotny et al. (2017) shared that African American and White men display similar health issues upon entering prison; however, studies show incarceration lowers the morality rate of African American men during and after their time incarcerated. One benefit that many African American men gain while incarcerated is healthcare, whereas health benefits may not have been an

option or priority in their daily lives (Pettit & Gutierrez 2018). At the same time, incarcerated African American men can seek medical care more easily and often.

Coparenting takes two parents to become one for the betterment of their child. Pinto and Figueiredo (2019) indicated that attachment theory could be a helpful tool to recognize a father's difficulties when acquiring a co-parenting relationship during the change to parenthood. Negativity from the children's mothers also causes barriers for African American fathers not being involved; the mother-father relationship's quality is a deciding factor in establishing the extent of the father's involvement with the child (Icard et al., 2017). According to Icard et al. (2017), there are other shocking results: few men regarded the child's mother as a stumbling block to their involvement, and often not enough choices to help fathers become involved with their children. According to Western and Smith (2018), if the relationship between the incarcerated father and their child's mother is in good standing, the father is most likely close to the child. This means the father is most likely to receive visits, make phone calls to his child, and maintain a positive and healthy relationship based on his relationship with the mother.

Father-Daughter Relationships

Fathers play many roles as caregivers, providers, protectors, discipline, playmates, and teachers in their daughters' lives. Anderson (2018) stated that girls are likely to suffer the effects of parental incarceration and conviction instead of boys. It is noted that daughters perceive fathers as "caring" fathers based on their level of communication, active engagement, time spent together, and conveying affection (Sentino et al., 2018). A father's communication pattern with his daughter considerably impacts her social and cognitive development, influencing her sense of confidence (Sentino, 2018). Some

research indicates that although strong father-daughter relationships positively impact their relationship, researchers have found that fathers tend to be less attentive and engaged with their daughters instead of the lives of their sons (Campbell & Winn, 2018).

Girls look up to their fathers early on in their lives. Therefore, studies have shown that early fathers' involvement with their daughters has been linked to decreased risk of early puberty, reduced teen pregnancy, and reduced early sexual activity (Yogman & Garfield, 2016). Sentino et al. (2018) acknowledged that when fathers are actively involved in their daughters' lives, studies show that daughters are less likely to be interested in boys early and are more successful academically. It is also known that daughters securely attached to their fathers have higher self-esteem, social competence, better emotional regulation, healthier communication, and more fun (Cochran et al., 2018). On the other hand, according to Sentino (2018), daughters who are less likely to have their fathers actively in their lives regularly are more prone to become involved with sexual behaviors, negative attitudes, and low academic achievement. It was also noted by Sentino et al. (2018) that fathers are often disregarded as valuable supporters due to their daughter's decision-making process.

Boys and girls are different when it comes to father-child relationships. According to Sentino et al. (2018), in some recent studies, it has been noted that in father and son relationships, a father's brains work differently when interacting with their daughter versus their son. While many people understand that this is true for young boys, the value of father-daughter connections should not be underestimated (Sentino et al., 2018). Cabrera et al. (2018) compared fathers who spend more time in rough and tumble play with their sons than their daughters, but they are more sensitive to their daughters'

emotional needs than their sons. On the other hand, Adamson (2018) stated that daughters require more than a positive relationship; to achieve academic success, strengthen cognitive abilities, and promote physical, emotional, and physiological health, as opposed to sons.

A unique link exists between fathers and daughters. Women who have a good relationship with their fathers have the incredible fortune of looking back on memories as they get older. Bennett and Knight (2020) said a daughter's relationship with her father shapes her childhood experience, and her relationship with her father also influences her behavior toward other men later in life. The position of a father is irreplaceable, and a solid father-child bond offers significant long-term benefits. According to Cochran et al. (2018), if a girl's father is unpredictable or completely absent by nature, she may find it challenging to trust men. As a result, every parent should recognize and comprehend the significance of a father's position in a girl's life.

Research has repeatedly demonstrated the favorable effects of a positive father-daughter relationship on a daughter's mental health. Cochran et al. (2018) stated that researchers have discovered that girls reportedly show less loneliness as they progress through their grades. Still, loneliness decreases substantially faster among girls with a deeper relationship with their fathers (Sağkal et al., 2018). These findings highlight the importance of fathers nurturing their ties with their children, especially their daughters. Campbell and Winn (2018) shared how it can help daughters feel less lonely over time

Having a father present helps girls deal with less emotional inability. Sağkal et al. (2018) shared that past research has found that young women who report having healthy

father-daughter connections are less likely to develop clinical depression or worry. They are also less likely to suffer from eating disorders, body dysmorphia, or self-consciousness about their looks or weight (Lewis & Hong, 2020). They claim to improve overall emotional and mental wellness (Sentino et al., 2018). There is a clear link between how females interact with their fathers as children and how they manage stress as adults

A girl's sense of security becomes increasingly vital as she grows older. As stated by Sentino et al. (2018), if a girl knows that her father is watching for her, she can thrive in a relatively safe setting, gain self-assurance, and lack inhibitions. Given the advantages of having a positive relationship with her father and feeling connected to him, their correspondence and friendship are crucial (Ali et al., 2016). Nonetheless, daughters indicate that they feel closer to their mothers and that it is easier to communicate with them about issues that affect them at home (Pinto et al. (2019). This is most likely inferable from the assumption that children, particularly females, are "assumed" to discuss enthusiastic problems with their mothers rather than fathers (Cabrera et al., 2018).

Furthermore, the relationship status of little girls is impacted by their fathers. The men with whom ladies date and long-haul relationships are connected to the kind of relationship with her father. Little et al. (2019) explained the expectation is that a mentor in a young lady's life will undoubtedly impact that young woman's perspectives on guys. Little et al. stated that many psychologists believe that a daughter's future romantic relationships will influence how she perceives and interacts with her father. Respectful and supportive fathers who follow through on their promises encourage their daughters to expect the same from their partners (Campbell & Winn, 2018).

The well-fathered girl is likelier to have emotionally connected and rewarding relationships with men. Lewis and Hong (2020) shared that well-fathered girl is more confident than poor-fathered girls to look for enthusiastic reassurance and backing from their beaus during their school years, and they are less inclined to be "convinced to have" sex. Sentino et al. (2018) mentioned fathers do not substantially affect their little girls' associations with men yet have a more significant effect than moms. Their other developed associations with guys might be how fathered girls are more averse to fostering profound gloom or dietary issues. Campbell and Winn (2018) stated these girls are less hesitant about their appearance and body weight. These girls are bound to have what it takes and perspectives that lead to additional satisfying associations with men because of their passion and psychological well-being (Sentino et al., 2018).

Moreover, numerous individuals are worried about girls' academic and professional courses, explicitly what her father association means for her scholarly presentation and, subsequently, her vocation achievement and monetary prosperity.

According to Cochran et al. (2018), girls whose fathers have been effectively involved throughout their adolescence in advancing their academic or athletic achievements and empowering their independence and decisiveness are bound to leave school. They apply themselves in more lucrative, demanding occupations customarily held by men.

Washington (2018) clarified why young ladies without kin are overrepresented among the world's political chiefs: their fathers are bound to encourage them to be successful people. Indeed, even proficient and school female competitors acknowledge their fathers for assisting them with becoming industrious, self-trained, eager, and practical. A girl with a solid, cherishing and open relationship with her father is more averse to becoming

physically dynamic at her initial younger age and less inclined to become pregnant as a teen (Cabrera et al., 2018).

Fathers impact their girls' lives both safely and unsafely. Abdill (2018) shared girls should invest the most energy in offering the most confidential information to their moms. However, Campbell and Winn (2018) stated girls pass up a great opportunity if they ignore their connection with their fathers. While it very well might be less complicated for fathers to identify with and associate with their children, they ought to likewise put forth an attempt to speak with their daughters (Washington, 2018). After all, girls are considered "daddy's girls."

African American Father-Daughter Relationships

In the existence of African American girls, father-daughter relationships are additionally significant. African American fathers must contribute indistinctly to their daughters' sound and positive adolescent results (Abdill, 2018). In contrast, a few studies discovered a lessening closeness and expanding struggle among fathers and daughters during youthfulness, expressing that father-daughter ties stay close during this period (Sentino et al., 2018). Fathers' relationships with their children have been demonstrated by limited presence and interaction; in most instances, absence is the most common factor (Carbrera et al., 2018). Therefore, the search conducted in this assignment presents different literature sources that illustrate African American father-daughter relationships.

Just like a mother's relationship with their children is essential during their growth, a father's relationship also shapes different aspects of their children's lives.

Nonetheless, this examination has zeroed in on mother commitments to belief or general family work (Brown et al., 2016). McMunn et al. (2017) shared various ethnicities and

dynamics of the society dictate different values for fathers and their children. In the existence of African American girls, father-daughter relationships are additionally significant and greatly upheld. Several scholars have studied the father-daughter relationship among African Americans and its impacts (Carbrera et al., 2018). Emotional attachment, physical protection, and role models are roles that fathers play in their relationships with their daughters.

Research illustrates that father-daughter relationships are essential throughout their daughter's lives and impact how they interact with other men. According to Carbrera et al. (2018), stronger father-daughter relationship connections increase confidence in young girls, which are preserved throughout their lives, thus illustrating that fathers also matter. Despite the daughter's stage, the father-daughter relationship does not fade and demonstrates the need for maintaining stronger bonds. As Nielsen (2019) stated, several studies have illustrated with supporting evidence that father-daughter relationships shape distinct factors that are essential aspects of their lives. There is a need to understand contributing factors to be positive and supportive of father-daughter relationships since they have positively impacted their daughters' lives (Fletcher et al., 2021).

Father-daughter relationships are essential in numerous aspects. Fatherhood plays a significant part in their children's lives and, in most instances, prompts the future behavior of their children (Nielsen, 2019). A substantial difference exists between daughters who have had a positive relationship with their fathers and those whose fathers were absent (Leath, 2017). This illustrates the crucial need African American families identify to ensure positive relationships between father and daughter. Father-daughter

relationships are essential for the general development of children, as the literature presented in this assignment illustrates.

African American Daughter's Academic Achievement

The father-daughter relationship was connected well with girls' scholarly commitment. Although research has revealed that paternal interactions are significant for girls' outcomes, few studies have investigated how features of the father-daughter relationship influence educational outcomes (Mattis et al., 2020). Moreover, global, and academic confidence correlates with the connection between father-daughter relationship quality and scholastic contribution (Sentino et al., 2018). Corresponding to Browning et al. (2018), discoveries suggest that the nature of a father-daughter relationship is fundamental for African American girls' scholarly commitment and confidence. Positive social relationships and connections may affect African American girls' academic achievement.

Their father-daughter relationship boasts academic achievement for African American girls. As Mattis et al. (2020) specified, the current examination explores whether the nature of the father-daughter association is identified with scholarly commitment and self-insight among African American girls. Mattis et al. (2020) stated that some studies have shown that steady father-daughter associations are imperative in cultivating astounding scholastic accomplishments in girls; better relationships have been connected to positive scholarly results for all girls. Arditti (2016) revealed that specialists tracked down a more grounded association with fathers associated with higher grades and professional objectives in an example of African American females aged 13 to 28. Other examination of African American girls has additionally discovered a connection between

nearness and expanded scholastic association; notwithstanding, the investigations were not sexed explicit (Stewart et al., 2019).

Given the potential for more clashes among moms and their girls during preadulthood, the father-daughter relationship may be significantly more essential to young
girls' outcomes. Father-daughter relationships are specifically discovered to be distancing
and conflictive in an example of low-pay African American families (Mattis et al., 2020).
Expanded burdensome manifestations, delinquent activities, and school conduct troubles
are connected to father-daughter connections, especially among young girls who have
less contact with their fathers (Little et al., 2019). Additionally, Bennett and Knight
(2020) later found that having a mindful and open father-daughter relationship is
connected to a lower hazard of participating in unsafe wellbeing practices among African
American juvenile girls. Moreover, as Browning et al. (2018) mentioned, further
examination of the nature of father-daughter connections and their importance to
scholarly accomplishment in African American girls is required. More research is needed
on the relationship between a father-daughter relationship and African American young
girls' academic inclusion.

Sexual Activity Among Daughters

Communication about sexual activity among fathers and daughters is mixed.

According to Stewart et al. (2019), parental exploration and positive parental correspondence about dangerous practices have been related to less baffled sexual perspectives and medication mentalities and practices. Arditti (2016) stated while some researchers find no link between parent-child communication and sexual behavior, others find it significant. Stewart et al. (2019) mentioned it could be due to difficulty reconciling

traditional conceptions of masculinity with the modern-day perspective of emotionally committed fathers. Nonetheless, it does not appear that fathers engage in sexual communication with their daughters about specific themes as mothers do, such as pregnancy, sexually transmitted illnesses, abortion, condoms, or birth control (Cabrera et al., 2018).

Initially, most fathers do not discuss sex with their children. This could be due to uneasiness about the subject. The literature is scarce and outdated regarding father-daughter relationships and sexual behavior (Campbell & Winn, 2018). The impact of fathers on their daughters' sexual behavior and the type of relationship with their daughters may be the most crucial element (Cabrera et al., 2018). Sentino et al. (2018) stated daughters with authoritative, authoritarian, unlikable, distant, and dishonest fathers are more prone to engage in sexual promiscuity than those whose fathers are viewed positively. On the other hand, some fathers struggle with the idea of the "baby" girl growing up and thinking about sex.

Daughters benefit from spending personal time with their fathers since they can connect and share mutually relevant interests. Campbell and Winn (2018) shared that some fathers chat with their daughters about romantic and sexual relationships related to their current partnership. Stewart et al. (2019) also shared how fathers regarded as warm, honest, give their daughters good attention, and emotionally available are more likely to have more nonsexual connections with men and fewer casual sex partners (Stewart et al. 2019). These fathers also address the emotional hazards of male-female sexual alliances (Sağkal et al., 2018). However, most avoidant fathers postpone sexual communication with their daughters and have little or late discussions about sex. As a result, directive

and intelligent fathers positively influence their daughter's sexual development (Sağkal et al., 2018).

A father's view on the importance of physical attractiveness and their daughter's dieting habits has a significant positive association. The molding of a daughter's body image is another possible outcome of the father-daughter relationship (Campbell & Winn, 2018). Most girls become aware of their changing bodies and how boys react to those changes during adolescence (Lewis & Hong, 2020). Girls analyze their physique and sexual appeal and base their overall impressions of their bodies on these signals, influenced by the media, family, and peers (Steinhilber et al. 2020). The quality of the father-daughter relationship substantially affects body image satisfaction.

A parent's acceptance can shield against negative cultural messages about body, beauty, and image. Poor body image has also been linked to a higher chance of engaging in sexual conduct (Sentino et al., 2018). Alternatively, Steinhilber et al. (2020) stated girls who are happier with their bodies report having a better father-daughter relationship. Fathers who are loving, consistent, and available to their daughters are more likely to create positive relationships (Sağkal et al., 2018). A father's involvement continues into the daughter's adolescence, as supported by activity sharing, parental supervision, acceptance of puberty-related changes, and open communication that is most likely not sexual (Campbell & Winn, 2018).

The Impact Incarceration has on Children

As stated previously in this chapter, the United States has the most significant incarceration rate of at least one parent to a child under 18 years. Bagaric and McCord (2019) argued that the high incarceration rate in the United States primarily contributed

to current" get tough on crime" rules and the fight against drugs that have led to the imprisonment of many people for more extended periods. According to the study conducted by Wildeman et al. (2018), many United States convicts have minor children, and 45% of them lived together with their children before they were convicted.

Therefore, the high imprisonment rate in the United States shows an increased number of children, predominantly the minority and the poor, who suffer from the incarceration of a parent. According to Cortina (2017), between 1980 and 2012, the number of children with a parent behind bars grew by five times, from approximately 500,000 to 2.6 million.

Loprest et al. (2019) also claimed that at any given time, almost 4% of children under 18 years are disconnected from a parent due to incarceration.

Having a parent incarcerated significantly impacts the lives of children, ranging from emotional trauma to the well-being of their development. Statistics showed that by the end of 2015, 2.5 million children had a parent incarcerated in a local, state, or federal facility (Pettit & Sykes, 2017). On the other hand, Parks and Donson (2018) mention that parental incarceration has demonstrated substantial and adverse outcomes for the socioemotional development of their child. Yaros et al. (2018) also agreed that a child's emotional development is affected by the release of their father's incarceration. Further research from Cochran et al. (2018) stated that adolescents with a father incarcerated are more likely to experience societal segregation, higher levels of absenteeism, and decreased educational success.

However, many penal institutions can separate inmates' families, which may cause or trigger a multitude of bad outcomes. Yet, occasionally, kids can manage being separated from their parents, but this separation is not easy for others. Moreover, the developmental

stages, gender, and cultural differences make it hard to concentrate on the problem (Tadros & Finney, 2018). Leroux (2019) mentioned how a parent's incarceration has a connection to financial strain, family re-organization, and grandparents raising children or going into foster care. Children of imprisoned parents are identified as a highly vulnerable group and are more likely to have mental, physical, and behavioral health conditions than their peers. According to Kim and Kiesel (2018), racial minorities and poor people are more likely to be imprisoned than others. Incarceration affects children, contributing to social and class inequalities in children's health.

The available studies show that African American children are more likely to face behavior problems when a parent is incarcerated. Browning et al. (2018) revealed that substantial research indicated parental incarceration hurts children. Carson (2018) mentioned that scarce studies explore the impact of parental incarceration on African American families. On the other hand, Shlafer et al. (2020) stated that it is an essential aspect of the child's well-being when parent-child contact is made during incarceration. Although parent-child communication may help a child's well-being, much work is needed to understand the child's reaction to parental incarceration (Washington, 2018).

African American children are more likely to be incarcerated at some point during their life than any other race. Welch et al. (2019) discussed that 25.1% of African American children's likelihood of having their parent incarcerated compared to White children born the same year is 3.6%. The National Association of Advancement of Colored People (2021) stated that African American boys have higher rates of one out of 3 being sentenced to prison than 1 out of 6 Latino boys and 1 out of 17 white boys. In contrast, Kopak and Smith-Ruiz (2016) stated that African American children whose

fathers had been incarcerated were more likely to be arrested in adolescence or adulthood than those whose fathers had not been arrested. The National Association of Advancement of Colored People (2021) stated that more than one out of every six African American men between the ages of 25 and 54 have disappeared from daily life, being productive citizens and fathers to their families.

Policymakers regularly censure underprivileged and African American fathers for the absence of association in their kids' lives. These reactions are restricted to characterizing mindful parenthood as offering financial help while disregarding different types of sustaining. Hahl et al. (2016) mentioned that ongoing investigations give a more extensive point of view on how devastated African American fathers nurture their kids. Glaze and Maruschak (2016) shared how studies support the conflict that the primary viciousness intrinsic in the imbalance is the detainment of African American fathers, which is an essential factor hindering them from fulfilling their fatherly jobs. According to Lewis and Hong (2021), discoveries showed that jail climate and post-detainment limitations do not uphold fathers' capacity to play out their careers or maintain solid connections between fathers and their children.

African American children face many obstacles when separated from a parent for long periods. According to Cabrera et al. (2018), children who endure maternal separation due to incarceration are at a higher risk for various bad outcomes, including mental health problems, criminality, and violence. On the other hand, during detachment from their children, fathers can likewise encounter feelings like misery, depression, and even blame (Norris et al., 2021). Norris et al. (2021) also mentioned that parents again experience massive difficulty as they make an honest effort to focus on children despite substantial

monetary strain and medical conditions. These circumstances are given as records of African American parents, and these issues are examined regarding strategy ramifications and future exploration headings.

Children's development is impacted as adolescence is interrupted by another social adjustment of the reentry of a parent from a prison environment. As Poehlmann-Tynan and Turney (2020) point out, a significant percentage of parental incarceration occurs before the teen years. The release occurs when they are fourteen or just transitioning to adolescence. While the transitioning phase is already coupled with emotional and other issues and incarceration, these challenges are blown up to significant levels leaving the teen in confusion and behavioral problems (Poehlmann-Tynan & Turney, 2020). Antle et al. (2019) assert that the problematic teenage hood experience by those whose parents were incarcerated is due to externalizing and internalizing issues related to interaction and absence of the supposed caregiver. Additionally, the adolescents present antisocial behavior and delinquency attributes, which emanate from early deprivation of attention from parents, resulting in aggression and other problematic forms of expression (NeMoyer et al., 2020).

Children of African American origin and those from low-income families are more vulnerable and exposed to parental incarceration. Haskins and Turney (2018) elaborate that the impact of incarceration on children is experienced differently for each of them. Nevertheless, the implications of parental incarceration may be experienced disproportionately, and this is in the context of gender. Finkeldey (2017) reinforced this by stating that male children are more likely than female children to exhibit early childhood behavioral problems following their parents' incarceration. Furthermore,

DeHart et al. (2017) said the impact of incarceration hit most when the children lived with the parent before incarceration more than those who did not live together with the incarcerated parent. Children whose fathers did not exhibit violent tendencies before the incarceration are often left with significant intergenerational consequences due to failure to understand why a good person had to be placed in prison (Finkeldey, 2017).

Also, children experiencing incarceration of parents have a higher risk of incarceration due to a causal effect of parental incarceration on the child's criminal justice involvement later in life. However, Copp et al. (2018) explained that this might be difficult to explain in terms of the cause since criminal participation cannot be established as a reason for the parent's incarceration or other adversities. Gius (2016) signaled that parental incarceration and delinquency are moderated by race, where White children whose parents are incarcerated found themselves in theft during adolescence and early adulthood. On the other hand, African American children with imprisoned parents exhibited fewer theft tendencies (Turney, 2019). The behavior explains an increased probability of crime involvement in children with a parental incarceration history from the mentioned engagement in theft.

Moreover, some children are categorized as a high-risk group for measures that may lead to arrest in the future, such as substance use and delinquency. Besides, the traumatic experience leaves the children with suicidal ideation and attempts (Kjellstrand et al., 2020). Another social issue most likely to be experienced by children with incarcerated parents is the social isolation of the individuals even in adulthood (Gifford et al., 2019). Moreover, parental incarceration even leads to the early transitioning of affected children into societal roles of parenthood as most of them feel older on entering

teenage hood and opt to seek employment and live independently. Turney and Lanunza (2017) highlight that the feeling of being older forces children to enter into childbearing at an early age, from about eighteen and twenty-three years. This has a deleterious outcome for their future.

The stress of parental incarceration results in low performance following the caregiver's absence, who acted as their support system. Shlafer et al. (2017) reinforce the college dropout aspect by identifying that youth whose fathers were incarcerated had a low probability of completing college than those with no such experience. The children's educational performance also drops due to poor concentration and attention from emotional and behavioral problems (Thomson et al., 2020). Also, children with parental incarceration tend to exhibit antisocial, aggressive, and delinquency, leading to suspension and even suspension from school. Warren et al. (2019) added that parental incarceration stigmatizes the children in the school setting where even the teachers maintain low expectations regarding competency level. Furthermore, the experience leaves the children disconnected from the academic environment due to feelings of inferiority following their parents' choices.

Parental incarceration also significantly impacts the children's social life due to the experience. Martin (2017) identified that children with parental incarceration are often hidden victims since they receive minimal personal support and rarely benefit from the systematic societal mechanism. Additionally, these children face some form of discrimination from others due to their being offspring of criminals, promoting their social isolation (Martin, 2017). Davis and Shlafer (2017) added that parental incarceration leads to relationship problems as the children experience weaker family

bonds and detachment following the parent's absence in their lives during development. Furthermore, incarceration weakens the bond between parents and children, negatively affecting or reflecting the child's relating capabilities (Wakefield & Wildeman, 2018).

The incarceration process is marked by a series of stressful scenarios and separation that distort the peace and psychological wellbeing of the children. Therefore, the correctional system requires an approach that avails a social support system for the children and other family members affected by the incarceration of their loved ones (Martin, 2017). Overall, incarceration detriments the child-parent bond even after release, especially for those who had no positive relationship with the parent before incarceration (Wakefield & Wildeman, 2018). Additionally, the worsened relationship occurs due to the long duration of separation that makes a parent miss out on the important attachment moments that occur during growth. Davis and Shlafer (2017) shared those fathers also miss out on their child's development growing up, building healthy attachment relationships, and losing their parenting role.

However, it is generally known that children suffer from having a single or two parents in prison. People must realize that this is only one of the factors in paternal and maternal incarceration. In the case of incarcerated fathers, Morgan-Mullane (2018) found that children are much more comfortable living with their mothers. Even in these difficult situations, they have trouble living with their fathers because their mothers are incarcerated. According to Wakefield and Wilderman (2018), the downside is that the father's imprisonment jeopardizes family finances since the mother is now supporting the family. It is also noted by Mik-Meyer and Silverman (2018) that the family's finances are also inconsistent, and they have more trouble finding shelter.

Incarceration of parents remains a socially relevant topic following its significant implications on a child's life. Yet, it has received the least amount of attention in the child development sector research. Harris (2020) stated more studies need to be conducted to explore the incarceration and vulnerability it causes to affected children. Additionally, it is established that most individuals affected by incarceration are minorities, especially African Americans (Morgan-Mullane, 2019). From such a pattern, social injustices and inequalities are prevalent among this group compared to the Whites who experience low incarceration rates (Morgan-Mullane, 2019). Turney and Goodsell (2018) mentioned how social oppression transforms even into children of incarcerated individuals, bringing a case of concern since this cohort has a great future due to time and unraveled opportunities. Therefore, it is prudent that more is done in terms of research to identify ways of minimizing social injustices and inequalities experienced by children faced with the incarceration of parents.

Most people overlook children who grow up without their parents' influence, and while children are rarely affected now, they tend to have more difficulties later in life. Around 33% of children in the U.S. have at least one parent who has been incarcerated for a crime (Turney & Goodsell, 2018). One could almost consider this an inevitability nowadays, as the number of children dealing with parental abandonment continues to grow, putting more and more children into a position where they must live independently without their parents. Morgan-Mullane (2018) found that children with a confined parent were more or three times more likely to be depressed or have behavioral issues than those without incarcerated parents. Bomysoad and Francis (2021) compared children under eighteen with similar family backgrounds and socioeconomic characteristics; the results

showed that having a parent behind bars or in prison is associated with a higher incidence of different conditions such as poor deficit health and hyperactivity disorder.

There are too many parents incarcerated and not in their children's lives. One million parents are being held in jails run by the federal, state, and local governments, where the courts supervise over 4 million parents (Harris, 2020). Cabrera believes it et al. (2018) that the number of children under 18 in this group exceeds 2.3 million. According to Harris (2020), over half a million parents in federal and state prisons have a combined 800,000 children in their care. That figure has grown drastically since 1991. Bomysoad and Francis (2021) shared that number more than doubled in 2019, with approximately 750,000 parents currently incarcerated with about 1.6 million children.

African American Men and Parenting after Incarceration

African American fathers face many issues once they are released from incarceration. DeGiorgi (2017) found that African American fathers return to the same neighborhood where they were arrested after release from incarceration. Welch et al. (2019) mentioned that another African American father's issue after release was his parenting role and identity. Many other fathers provided financially for their children before incarceration but sought financial support after discharge. Brown et al. (2016) stated that despite the voluminous research linking ethnicity and incarceration to systematic inequalities, particularly regarding African American families, little research examines fathers' experiences regarding their relationships with their children after imprisonment.

Imprisonment is a particularly pervasive involvement with the existence of African American people to the point that several researchers have started portraying detainment as an undeniably standard "life-course occasion." Detainment rates vary significantly by race, with individuals of color bound to be detained more than White men (Icard et al., 2017). According to Turney and Goodsell (2018), African American kids are lopsidedly affected by parental detainment, making up almost 50% of kids with a father in jail. Due to limited sample sizes, dissecting race, nationality, and sex simultaneously could not be provided (Icard et al. (2017). Although we could compare males and females and the offspring children of African American, Hispanic, and White fathers, we couldn't compare girls and boys by ethnicity and race. Brown et al. (2016) shared that after a father leaves prison or jail, the antagonistic effects of detainment on conduct endure young men and African American and Hispanic kids.

Kids are exceptionally helpless in negative encounters as they grow up. Awful encounters, such as the imprisonment of a parent, can fundamentally affect children's prosperity. According to Turney and Goodsell (2018), while children can be versatile, they can likewise engage in great mischief under unfavorable conditions. However, children may not generally express their pressure or conduct, even as little children can show possible future mental troubles (Welch et al. (2018). McLeod (2017) presented research that affirms that relational individualities and design, guardians' degrees of instruction, admittance to a solid job pay, and well-being can impact what therapists allude to as externalizing and disguising practices in kids. Kids with externalizing conduct issues may get out of hand at school, home, or youngster care by fighting or shouting (Fullilove, 2020). Children with disguising social issues may refuse to talk, scowl regularly, fatigue, or be tentative and unsure.

African American men serving parole or probation have persistent challenges fulfilling their father's responsibilities. Not having had many obligations while incarcerated, they take on the liabilities of remedial prerequisites and disadvantages to their kids upon discharge (Kaeble, 2018). Chamberlain and Wallace (2016) shared how previously imprisoned fathers are helpless in the face of monetary troubles because of difficulties in getting jobs and public advantages upon release. Financial demands such as compensation installments and parole supervision charge further diminish their capacity to give financial help to their youngsters (Chamberlain & Wallace, 2016). Limitations on personal time because of obligatory gatherings or classes and movement and housing limitations can likewise restrict contact. The semi-restorative condition of waiting on the post-trial process or parole makes them feel frail and stressed, further hampering their capacity to reconstruct associations with their kids (Phelps, 2017). Simultaneously, research shows that parents who invest energy in their kids are more averse to being discouraged or committing crimes.

Additionally, imprisonment disturbs relationships and increases the chances of dysfunction in the family. Browning et al. (2018) mentioned how companions with an imprisoned partner are more likely to try for separation or gain independence from their partner, inferable from high conjugal pressure, disgrace, and geographic separation. Detainment and ensuing relationship disintegration may affect parent-child contact (McKay et al. (2018). Likewise, the imprisonment of a parent has negative results on children's well-being and prosperity (Williams et al., 2019). It can prompt or demolish attention issues and externalizing practices.

A parent's imprisonment has likewise been connected to learning handicaps, formative deferrals, and discourse and language issues in children. McLeod (2017) explained how parents' imprisonment is related to increased kid self-reports of solitary practices. A few investigations find that impacts are more grounded for kids whose fathers lived with them before incarceration. Yet, the effects are critical for children and fathers who live separately (Brunton-Smith & McCarthy, 2017). Mcleod (2017) shared these effects are also associated with race, proving that detainment significantly strengthens externalizing practices among African American kids.

Criminal equity contribution differs by identity and race. Hispanics and African Americans are around 60% of the equity-included populace, despite representing under 30% of the population (Turney & Goodsell, 2018). According to Williams et al. (2019), one out of every four African American persons will be detained in their life compared to one out of six Hispanic men and one out of seventeen white men. As detention experiences and consequences differ according to race and ethnicity, kids' outcomes may differ (Williams et al., 2019). McLeod and Tirmazi (2017) showed how in comparison to kids of White fathers who have never been imprisoned, kids of White fathers show no critical changes in externalizing or disguising practices because of fatherly detainment. On the other hand, McLeod and Tirmazi (2017) shared how kids of Hispanic and African American fathers show quantifiably gigantic developments in externalizing and distinguishing practices attached to detainment. This relationship is not significant for children of White fathers (Brunton-Smith & McCarthy, 2017).

Incarceration influences the one being detained as well as their families. William et al. (2019) shared the family framework is one of the two significant social constructs

an individual engages with, the second being allies. Brunton-Smith and McCarthy (2017) stated that even though losing any relative to the jail framework can be mentally agitating, families will focus on losing a parent. Since numerous detainment facilities are situated in regional settings, groups of people should adapt to the test of maintaining a relationship with their incarcerated relative who is physically harder to visit (Chamberlain & Wallace, 2016). In addition, a few men mislead their families about their open areas while in jail or hinder families from seeing them. Some end family associations while in prison to shield their families from humiliation. There is an inclination for families to deteriorate and reconstitute with proxy guardians because of parental takeoffs and frequent incarceration.

Due to the challenge of getting ongoing work, numerous African American excriminals experience increasing homelessness necessary to live with family members or in the city. Williams et al. (2019) stated that finding a spot to live is an entirely different problem for an ex-criminal who returns from prison on top of discovering work.

DeGiorgi (2017) shared that those African American men returning to their families and networks portrayed dubious inclination toward the setting or whether they would remain invited in their new day-to-day environments.

Imprisonment is not arbitrary—it is an encounter excessively gathered in communities of concentrated disadvantage and communities of African Americans. Pettit and Gutierrez (2018) shared that mass detainment is a local area-level marvel with overflow impacts for all occupants. According to Turney and Goodsell (2018), a study speculates that individuals who experience numerous minimized situations might experience intense adverse results. For instance, a dark kid would be influenced by

fundamental bigotry and an imprisoned parent (Turney & Goodsell, 2018). Children confronting various threatening conditions may have more complex memories of adapting to a guardian's imprisonment.

High imprisonment rates can, under specific conditions, lead to considerably higher crime percentages. Several scientists accept that high convergences of detainee expulsion and return can also destabilize communities effectively in trouble (DeGiorgi, 2017). Simultaneously, various endeavors in progress influence these focuses—where local area, service providers, rectifications, and the private area are making associations to expect and address the requirements of relatives affected by detainment and previous detainees who get back to the local area to reconstruct their lives (Williams et al., 2019).

Summary

This research shows that imprisonment extends well past the prison walls, harming children, diverse families, and communities. Distinct lawbreakers must be punished and removed from society according to the moral basis for incarceration (Tasca, 2018). Although people must be careful not to extrapolate too far from the results of this single-site study, this research implies that incarceration hurts African American fathers' identification (Dallaire, 2019). In this research study, additional research could investigate the importance of father identity in promoting a fruitful reentry process based on the fathers' definition of father distinctiveness. A comparative qualitative investigation may be needed in future studies regarding this topic.

When people are separated and unable to communicate daily, any relationship is strained. Being the kid of an incarcerated parent has a lot of negative consequences for today's youth. Wang et al. (2020) shared that many children look up to their parents as

role models; someone they may put their trust in, who will protect them, and who will lead them through life—for most children, having a parent who is incarcerated means that their positive role model is missing. The absence of a parent in one's youth has numerous harmful consequences and effects. According to statistics, one in five children has witnessed their parent's arrest (Giménez-Dasí et al., 2020).

There are several short-term consequences for younger children who were there throughout the detention of their absent parent. Children under seven have incubuses and flashbacks because of the incident (Wang et al., 2020). When a parent is taken away from their child, the child is often at school. As a result, the children return home to an empty house and are unaware of the arrest (Valadez et al., 2020). It is difficult for young children to understand what's happening with their parents, so parents must explain the issue.

In most cases, indirect communication in letter form and, whenever present, phone conversations must be relied upon between families. According to Romero et al. (2020), the restricted contact that offspring with incarcerated parents possess with their parentages, the often-insufficient quality of that interaction, and the stigma and guilt that comes with being the child of a prisoner can make maintaining an association with a parent extremely difficult. Valadez et al. (2020) stated that visits from the inmate's family on temporary leave schemes in cases where they occur are the prominent direct manner of preserving relationships, but they are not often practicable. Direct contact between children and their confined parents might be prevented or limited by prison rules, travel distances, rival demands on household members, or the reluctance of one or both parties to meet, affecting their relationship amongst themselves (Wang et al., 2020).

People are frequently pushed in and out of custodial and in and out of their children's lives. McLeod and Tirmazi (2017) stated that several fathers aged between twenty to forty years serve their sentences unconfined and then are detained and reincarcerated for bail or probation breaches. Recent studies show that the revolving door does not stop until men reach their mid-forties (Valadez et al., 2020). Still, the harm to fathers, their kids, and communities persists long after the physical imprisonment ends, resulting in virtual life sentences (Charles et al., 2019). This, in some ways, is a type of social violence.

The involvement of the criminal justice organization in promoting the myth of the absent African American father is obscured by various media representations, civic debate, and literature depicting African American males as absent and uncommitted uncomplicated deadbeats. Besides, African American fathers are not missing, though many are imprisoned, as Michelle Alexander eloquently put it (Haskins & Turney, 2018). Fatherhood is rendered impotent while imprisoned. Fathers are forbidden from engaging in practices that assist their children's healthy associations. Fatherhood, as previously said, is a social concept created and reconstructed via social interaction, and it is shaped by ever-changing past, financial, and social-radical forces (Voith et al., 2020).

Families bear tremendous burdens as a result of parental incarceration.

Additionally, it has been found that vulnerable families are usually burdened by parental incarceration, and it is primarily evident amongst families of African American men (Strom & Lan, 2019). Valadez et al. (2020) named a few consequences of incarceration, and involvement with the criminal justice structure increases family uncertainty, joblessness, socioeconomic drawback, substance abuse, and mental health difficulties, to

name a few. Since children who have a parent confined already live-in homes are disproportionately affected by many of these concerns, the damages resulting from having a parent incarcerated compound a wide range of problems that these children are already dealing with (Fan et al., 2021). Besides, Strom Lan (2019) stated that families bear tremendous burdens due to parental incarceration.

As a result, mass incarceration has altered African American males' fatherhood recital and practices and their conception of father identity. The formerly jailed and not ever incarcerated men in this study had more in common than not when it came to schooling, marital status, and monetary stability (Washington et al., 2018). This can be due to a shared set of experiences. Males from low-income families are more likely to be jailed, while men who have been incarcerated are more likely to be low-income. Patricia Hill Collins' notion of crossing oppressions may be extended to represent the related element and particularity of domination when one is poor, African American, masculine, and a criminal, thereby exemplifying an intersection of authorities when one is underprivileged, obscure, male, and an offender (Parkes & Donson, 2018).

This study indicated that jailed men were less expected to be married and possess several children, consistent with earlier research on incarcerated fathers. Although marriage is deteriorating amongst most African American men, research shows that low-income fathers want to marry only when they are financially and fervently ready and have found the appropriate lady (McLeod et al., 2019). Men's capacity to prepare for marriage and possess an opportunity to choose a marital partner is hampered by economic hardship and, in some instances, jail. Despite African American males' difficulties in marriage, parenting is celebrated.

Their learning of low-income fathers discovered a movement away from the traditional two-parent relations "package deal." The adult relationship takes precedence over the children's bond. Fathers are more willing than moms to obligate their children (Adams, 2018). The results contradict William Julius Wilson's theory that low-revenue African American men have a "decreased commitment to parenting" due to economic drawbacks. This study revealed that various circumstances limit and obscure a father's aptitude to be current and tangled in his children's lives (Rambert, 2021). Most fathers are not uncommitted and uninterested; instead, they are incarcerated, and as this research has demonstrated, incarceration renders fatherhood ineffective.

Furthermore, according to this study, fathers with children from numerous women face difficulties providing equal attention and fiscal support to all their children (Green et al., 2019). Men may be unable to achieve the "full fatherhood experience," They dwell with a child, observe their development directly, and assist raise them if they are spread among many residences. With various mothers and their children vying for one man's consideration, having several children with numerous partners may be the source of immense tension and struggle (Haney, 2018). Multiple families also scatter the father's inadequate financial resources instead of concentrating them.

More research is required to see how jail and reintegration experiences affect a single father's responsibilities for many households. Future research is also needed to investigate the findings of this survey, which show that most recently jailed, men cannot wage their bills, possess no plans to retire, and have no retirement savings (Giordano et al., 2019). This could have ramifications for upcoming asset accumulation. According to research, augmented asset possession and work may lower recidivism (Sandberg et al.,

2020). Failing to save or build assets has ramifications for the financial and social issues formerly jailed people may confront as they grow older.

The idea of father identity here reflects the men's perceptions of what a parent is and what various fathers should do (Lemmons & Johnson, 2019). They saw being there as an instance and providing as essential aspects of fatherhood. In this study, fathers explained how incarceration prevented them from engaging in the behaviors required to achieve the father identification requirement. They could not be present, set the example they desired, and offer love, necessities, and guard for their children while incarcerated (Muentner et al., 2019). When they couldn't satisfy the father's identification requirement, some tried to change their ways, while others gave up their father's identity while in jail.

Moreover, the findings of this study back up earlier research on parenthood and incarceration. Fathers highlighted how the jail framework limits their relations with their children and how it is problematic to classify as fathers while in custodial, like earlier findings (McCarthy & Adams, 2019). The results imply that the criminal justice structure's stress and tension on fathers' relations with their children cause widespread and, in some cases, irreversible damage. Therefore, social strain happens, making extreme and now and again unsalvageable harm between fathers and their children (Muentner et al., 2019). Additionally, these relationships should exist between the father and their child and the diverse family aspect to ensure strong interactions in the future (Lemmons & Johnson, 2019).

To minimize the effects of the absent parents and how absence may have affected their parenting skills once they are released, several options should be undertaken to curb the effects. Besides, it must be a deliberate effort to position and maintain fathers as near home as possible. Regular visits can help reintegrate and must be encouraged and reinforced by institutions. Extortion of family resources should be replaced by subsidies to cover the costs of transportation and boardinghouse accommodations for visitation and the high expense of prison phone calls (McCarthy & Adams, 2019). Postage assistance is also required. E-mail and video visitation (to be utilized in sum to but not as a substitute for contact visitation) are two other ways of communication that can be expanded. Prisoners should be allowed to work and support their families.

Besides, imprisonment is practical to society for it causes decreased lifetime and a reduction in intergenerational earnings; hence the development of the community will reduce. According to Ansari et al. (2018), formerly incarcerated people's incomes may be restricted when they complete their term due to their criminal record. Besides, people with specific criminal records face hurdles and, in some situations, are excluded from getting financial assistance, such as SNAP (food stamps) and housing aid. Studies have shown benefits like SNAP to effectively minimize poverty and aid working families (Harding et al., 2019). However, confinement can sometimes be beneficial to the community. The experience of being imprisoned may dissuade someone from performing crimes in the imminent to avoid going to prison. As drug and alcohol action, education, or counseling, rehabilitation chances may be available in prison (Johns, 2018).

Convincingly, over the last thirty years, the phenomenal rise of African American men in the United States prison populace has wreaked havoc on the men, their relations, and the societies in which they dwell. When incarceration rates are low, they might be seen as having a direct effect on people and families, though they have a minor impact on communities (Haskins & Jacobsen, 2017). Nevertheless, African American men's

excessively high incarceration rate is a significant concern for persons, families, societies, and cultures. While African American fathers make up less than 6% of the population in the United States, they now account for approximately thirty-nine percent of the adult male custodial populace. They are confined to a proportion six times greater than non-Hispanic whites (Haskins & Jacobsen, 2017).

The presented literature in this chapter shows the need for this generic qualitative research design to explore more experiences of absent African American fathers. With limited research available in this area, this study will help more African American fathers voice their role as a parent. Given such, further research could increase understanding of African American fathers' parenting experiences after release from incarceration to address the documented problem of incarcerated fathers in society (Mears & Siennick, 2016). This gap within the literature will be addressed with the participants. Chapter 3 will provide more details on the methodology of this study.

Chapter 3: Research Method

Introduction

This generic qualitative study aims to explore incarcerated African American fathers' perspectives as absent parents and how absence may have affected their parenting skills once they are released. This study's target population is African American males (ex-offenders) who were incarcerated during the early years of their daughter's life and have kept in contact with them during their sentence. For this generic qualitative study, I will interview African American fathers to explore their overall perspective as parents and their relationships with their daughters after their release from incarceration.

This chapter will begin with the research design for this study. Following that paragraph will be the role of the researcher. Next, I will present the study's methodology, which will provide sections on the participant selection logic, the data collection of instruments, the recruitment and participation procedure, and the data analysis plan. I will then discuss the trustworthiness issues and the study's ethical procedures. The final section will summarize Chapter 3 and provide a transition into Chapter 4.

Research Design and Rationale

The research question for this study is: How does incarceration impact African American fathers' parenting experience after their release from incarceration? A generic qualitative study was the suitable method for this study. Merriam (2009) stated that a generic qualitative approach could stand alone as a researcher's formulated approach and be considered a simple or basic study. A generic qualitative study investigates the participants' personal experiences, principles, opinions, and reflections to better understand their viewpoint through a questionnaire structure (Percy et al., 2015).

According to Devers and Frankle (2000), generic qualitative is often evolving, flexible, and somewhat vigorous before the researcher develops or assesses other general theories and explanations. Most generic qualitative studies rely on one of three data collection methods that fit the participant's experience and perception, including semi- or fully structured (open-ended) interviews, questionnaires, and written or oral surveys (Percy et al., 2015). For this generic qualitative study, my use of semi- or fully structured open-ended interviews will provide the participants the exploration of expressing their personal experiences of parenthood after their release from incarceration.

The focus of any qualitative study is to describe the essence of lived experiences of the participants. Conducting a generic qualitative survey will allow me to understand each participant's personal experience through interviews. Sekaran and Bougie (2010) mentioned that a qualitative study is assumed when little is known about the situation or very little information is available on similar problems researched in the past. This generic qualitative study was suitable because of the limited research on the topic. Little is known about the personal experiences of father-daughter relationships after release from incarceration. Therefore, attachment theory will allow fathers to provide their personal experience of being detached from their daughters. Additionally, a considerable gap exists in the current literature concerning African American fathers' perspectives and parenting experiences after release from incarceration. Further research is warranted to address the problem of incarcerated fathers in society (Mears & Siennick, 2016).

Role of the Researcher

As the researcher in this study, my role will be to conduct structured interview questions with each participant individually. I will be an observer-participant that interacts with the participants by asking open-ended questions that will allow them to freely express their experiences, opinion, and reflections as African American fathers after the release of incarceration. The interviews will be audio-taped for data collection purposes through transcripts. All data collected will be analyzed using thematic analysis. Castleberry and Nolen (2018) stated that thematic analysis is used to identify, analyze, and report patterns seen within data.

With any study, personal and professional biases will be mentioned in managing and avoiding doing so. All participants will be recruited using the snowball effect via social media and local communities. My personal beliefs, analyses, and perceived notions about this research and the participant's feedback will be set aside to conduct this study more objectively to receive the data needed. To ensure the impact of research bias is not possible, member checking will be provided to participants to ensure the transcripts are accurate before any data is analyzed. As stated by Barbour (2001), member checking is used to retain authenticity in qualitative research. All interviews will be conducted via video chat or in-person at a local library or community center. Each participant will be pre-screened to ensure they fit the criteria of this study, and any ethical issues will be addressed during the pre-screening to avoid problems later in the interview.

Methodology

Participant Selection Logic

This study's target population is African American males (ex-offenders) who were incarcerated during the early years of their daughters' lives and have kept in contact with them during their sentence. The sampling strategy will consist of adult males ages 33 and older who now have an adult age daughter 18 years of age or older. The father must have had contact with their daughter during their incarceration sentence. Participants will be selected based on their pre-screening questions via social media, flyers, and word of mouth to conduct interviews via video chat or face-to-face. The criterion for participants in the study is based on the following: (a) African American male, (b) have a daughter, (d) ex-offender, (e) had contact with daughter sometime during incarceration, (f) parenting role reestablished after the release of incarceration. Each participant will be pre-screened via phone call or email to answer the questions above to meet the required criteria. The selection of participants will not be of any male from within my workplace nor of personal relationships.

The number of participants will be between eight and 10 African American males; this number will allow the researcher to collect enough data to see any patterns in this study. Boddy (2016) stated that a sample size as small as one participant could be justified based on the participant's personal experiences. On the other hand, Dworkin (2012) shared that an appropriate number for sample size should be between 5 and 50 participants to gain adequate and sufficient saturated data. Data saturation and sample size go hand in hand. According to Walker (2012), data saturation is reached once

sufficient data is gathered to replicate the study. However, Guest et al. (2006) stated data saturation is enough when the researcher can acquire new data or when additional coding is not feasible. Therefore, the sample size in this study may include snowball sampling.

Purposeful and snowball sampling will be used in this study to gain enough participants. Palinkas et al. (2015) shared that purposeful sampling is commonly used in qualitative studies, recognizing and choosing cases that provide much information about the phenomenon of interest. As Etikan et al. (2015) shared, the snowball sampling method is useful when a specific population of interest is hard to reach and may pose difficulties for the researcher. Snowball sampling will be used in this study if I find it hard to recruit enough eligible participants. However, Tenny et al. (2017) stated participants or other people who may know eligible participants would use word of mouth (snowball sampling) as a referral or recommendation to the study.

To recruit potential and eligible participants, much work is needed. Creating an appealing and informative flyer will grasp the attention of potential participants. Posting flyers in rural and urban areas within Central Alabama with a majority-minority population at grocery stores, barbershops, community centers, and even on Facebook groups geared towards ex-offender fathers will help recruit eligible participants. I will send the flyer to the Facebook group administrator to post it on their page for potential recruitment. Participants will contact me by phone or email from the contact information listed on the flyers. Once a participant contacts the researcher, then a date and time will be scheduled to complete the pre-screening to determine if the participant is eligible.

Once a participant is qualified, the researcher will make an appointment for the interview, date, time, and contact (via video chat, face-to-face, or phone calls).

Instrumentation

The data collection for my study will include individual interviews, field notes, and audiotape to collect data. I will conduct an interview guide (see Appendix D) with open-ended questions to express their experience as an -offender African American father. The interviews will be audio-taped and transcribed using transcription software. No historical or legal documents will be used in this study. I will use the participants' experiences to explain why this research is needed to help African American fathers voice their role as a parent.

Conducting semi structured interview questions will allow me, the researcher, to provide some structure to my study of interest and allow flexibility to the participants for the unplanned and natural replies. As Englander (2012) stated, interviews are a leading tool by which phenological researchers gather data. The researcher's semi-structured interview questions (see Appendix D) will simplify providing insightfulness and personal perspectives of African American fathers providing essential data that is hardly known about the ex-offender's parenting experience after release from incarceration.

Hammarberg et al. (2016) stated that when researchers ask participants to speak about their reflections/experiences related to the study, they often reveal more than what the researcher set out to learn. Using open-ended questions will allow the participants to be comfortable in their responses and truthful in expressing their feelings (Chenail, 2011).

Field notes will help record any body language and responses that participants may have issues discussing or expressing. Cohen Crabtree (2008) shared that qualitative research should be fair, significant, and logical in describing participants' responses. The use of field notes will help me remember any special moments or gestures from the participants. As Phillippi and Lauderdale (2017) mentioned, field notes are generally suggested in qualitative research to help document needed contextual information.

Audio-tape recordings collect the participant's responses to the interview questions so that the information can later be transcribed to find common themes and patterns among the participants. Each participant will be audio-recorded and asked the same interview questions, provide a member-checking for accuracy, and transcribe the recordings for data analysis. Stockdale (2002) stated that audio recording for interviews provides an easy way for researchers to capture details that cannot be seen but heard, for example, when a participant's voice cracks or goes low or high. Neal et al. (2014) shared that audio recordings help researchers identify themes rapidly to help code and analyze the data without time-consuming transcription.

Procedures for Recruitment, Participant, and Data Collection

I will create a flyer to display within the African American community at barbershops, corner stores, gyms, and housing authorities for the study's recruitment. Flyers will also be posted on social media and by word of mouth to recruit potential participants. Potential participants can contact via the contact information provided on the flyers. Once potential participants contact me, I will conduct a simple pre-screen to ensure they fit the required participation criteria. Once they are approved for the pre-screen, I set up a scheduled day and time to conduct the initial interview via video chat or

in-person at a library or community center. Before the initial interview, I will provide participants with informed consent, guidelines for the interview, the purpose of the study, and ask any questions they may have.

The data will be collected by audiotape or zoom video chat; the researcher will record and transcribe each interview. Each interview will be scheduled to last 45-60 minutes and will be a one-time interview. If more time is needed to complete the interview, I will schedule another day and time for completion; however, the goal is to complete the interview in one sitting. Suppose there are not enough participants for the study. In that case, I will recruit in other rural and urban areas in Central Alabama at gas stations, grocery stores, and shopping malls to gain more potential participants.

When interviews are complete, I will summarize and allow the participants to answer or provide last-minute feedback. I will then thank the participant for participating and providing their experience in this study. Once I have completed all interviews, I will transcribe each and send a copy to each participant for member checking. This will allow the participants to make sure everything is accurate. Creswell and Miller (2000) mentioned that researchers should consider the possibility of member checking impacting the participants. Hallet (2013) says that the relationship researchers build with the participants can sometimes affect their feelings while members check and realize they may have been vulnerable during that period. After each participant has confirmed their transcripts are accurate, I will continue with data analysis.

Data Analysis Plan

I plan to use thematic analysis to analyze the data plan. Thematic analysis is considered the most commonly used approach for qualitative research because of the vast array of research questions and topics that can be addressed using this data analysis (Castleberry & Nolen, 2018). The procedure for coding this study will be through typed transcripts of the semi-structured interviews with each participant. MAXQDA software will be used to complete the coding process using Braun and Clarke methods. Once each interview is coded, I will look for patterns and common themes among the fathers' experiences. Using thematic analysis aims to discover substantial cohesion within the data collected.

To complete the data analysis, I will include the steps of Braun and Clarke (2006). The first step is to conduct the interview, reading and transcribing each interview to obtain the subject matter. The second step is to provide participants with a copy of the transcribed interview for member checking before proceeding with qualitative data analysis. The third step is to start the coding process, which includes identifying and signifying any statements or expressions made by the participants. These statements or phrases will be organized based on any found codes. The fourth step will involve arranging the codes into tentative themes and linking them to coded data and the dataset to find any thematic structure to support each identified theme. The fifth step is to refine each theme to produce named and differentiated themes. The final step is to create a narrative of the findings within the data analysis themes.

Issues of Trustworthiness

To evaluate the issues of trustworthiness in the research study, member checks and peer reviews will be used to validate the study's credibility. As stated by Tenny et al. (2017), four correlating concepts evaluate qualitative research; these concepts are internal validity (credibility), external validity (transferability), reliability (dependability), and objectivity (confirmability). Internal validity (credibility) will be the concept used for triangulation. According to Tenny et al. (2017), triangulation uses several data collection methods to gain dependable and precise results. To ensure the trustworthiness of my study, I will utilize structured interviews.

Ethical Procedures

Before recruiting participants, I must be approved by the IRB to conduct this study and move forward with collecting data. Once I am approved, I will recruit (see Appendix A) 8-10 participants, and those of interest will be pre-screened for qualification. After each qualified participant is pre-screened, I will provide each with a consent form (see Appendix B). The consent forms will provide the requirements of each participant, an explanation of the purpose of the study, privacy/confidentiality agreements, and the option to opt-out of the study at any time. This study is entirely voluntary.

Once interviews are scheduled with the participants, I will designate a folder and audiotape for each individual to keep their data separate within a locked cabinet in the researcher's home office. Each participant's information will be kept anonymous. A fictitious name will recognize each participant to distinguish who is who. Gathering

information about their demographics will be asked before the interview begins (See Appendix D). After this information is collected, the interview process will begin.

The researcher and committee members will access any raw materials used during the interviews (audio recordings, consent forms, and notes). After every interview is complete and each participant has member checked their transcript for accuracy, I will continue to store the audio recordings until the final transcriptions are finalized. Once the transcriptions are complete, the audio recordings will be destroyed.

This study will not include nor be done within my work environment. Therefore, no conflict of interest or power differentials will occur. This study will be based on recruitment from participants who meet the criteria within the community or by word of mouth. No form of incentives will be used during this study.

Summary

This generic qualitative study aims to explore incarcerated African American fathers' perspectives as absent parents and how absence may have affected their parenting skills once they are released. This study focuses on African American fathers and their relationship with their daughters. This study will conduct structured interviews with 8-10 fathers qualified to participate and provide their parenting experience. Participants will be recruited from African American communities and social media groups. A thematic analysis will transcribe the interviews to discover patterns, commonalities, and themes that pertain to the father's parenting experience after release from incarceration. Chapter 4 will examine the raw data and results from this study. It will also provide more details

about the data collected and analyzed and any themes or patterns found among the participants.

Chapter 4: Results

Introduction

This generic qualitative study aimed to better understand African American fathers' parenting role while incarcerated to help them become better parents upon release. This chapter will explore the analyzed data transcribed from the interviews to address the research question: how does incarceration impact African American fathers' parenting experience after incarceration? The participants in this study were formerly incarcerated African American males who had a daughter during incarceration. Through audio-recorded semi structured interviews, participants could share their experiences of being an incarcerated father and the effects it may have caused on their father-daughter relationships. I will provide an overview of the interview setting, the participant's demographic information, data collection, data analysis, evidence of trustworthiness, the results of the study, and a summary of chapter four.

Settings

No personal or organizational conditions that influenced participants or their experience during the study impacted the interpretation of the study results. I recruited eight participants for the study and conducted semi-structured interviews. Each interview was scheduled for 45-60 minutes; however, the times ranged from 20-30 minutes. Participants were reminded that this study was entirely voluntary. If they wanted to end the interview, they could say "they no longer want to continue." Due to participants sharing personal and sensitive information, I provided a toll-free number for support and counseling.

Demographics

A purposeful sampling strategy was used in this study; I recruited eight formerly incarcerated African American males who have a daughter. Participants were recruited by placing flyers within local rural communities at various locations (barbershops, gyms, housing authorities, etc.) until 8 participants qualified for the study. Only eight participants qualified out of 9 interested in the study. Participants contacted the researcher by telephone, stating they were interested in the study. I reviewed the criteria with each participant to see if they qualified and proceeded to schedule interviews via phone. Due to the privacy and confidentiality of each participant, I coded each participant as a respondent, for example, R1, R3, and R5. Table 1 provides detailed demographic information based on the criteria needed to participate in the study.

Table 1Participant Demographics

Participants	Age	Number of Daughters	Number of Times Incarcerated	Number of Years Since Released from Incarceration
Participants Respondent 1	45	5	2	7
Respondent 2	54	1	1	14
Respondent 3	45	2	2	12
Respondent 4	41	1	3	6
Respondent 5	45	1	4	10
Respondent 6	34	3	2	5
Respondent 7	38	1	1	5
Respondent 8	57	4	2	9

Data Collection

Data was collected through eight semi structured interviews of formerly incarcerated African American males with lived experiences of father-daughter relationships. Interviews were completed once with each participant via telephone after 8 participants were considered qualified for the study. After IRB approval for the data collection on February 15, I started the recruitment process, which took place from February 18 to March 17, 2022. Once participants were qualified for the study, I scheduled a day and time to complete the audio-recorded interviews and verbally reviewed the consent form. I provided an electronic copy to each participant via email to obtain their consent to voluntary participate.

An audio device recorded the interviews during the phone call. There were eleven semi-structured open-ended questions with some sub-questions to gain further information. See Appendix C for the interview questions. Some questions had to be broken down into two questions to acquire the needed information for the question.

Participants were told to allot 45-60 for the interviews to be completed and allow time for possible technological difficulties. The average time for the interviews ranged from 20-30 minutes. Most of the questions were straightforward, so I had to probe for more information to understand the father's parenting experience better.

Once interviews were completed, I reviewed each recording twice to check for technical difficulties or unclear/unheard questions and answers. I followed up with each participant 3 days later to provide them with a transcribed copy of the interviews to complete member checking. Participants received an electronic copy of the transcripts and were asked to confirm accuracy via email for me to continue coding and to analyze

the data. Each participant was thanked once again for their participation in the study and informed they would receive an electronic copy or link of the final study once complete.

There were no unusual circumstances encountered during data collection.

Data Analysis

The researcher transcribed interview data verbatim and analyzed it using MAXQDA software once each interview transcript was confirmed accurate per the participant. The analysis process was based on the six steps of Braun and Clark (2006). The first step is to conduct the interview, reading and transcribing each interview to obtain the subject matter. This step was achieved through the researcher working on setting aside personal preconceptions and biases about the topic in preparation for the analysis of the data.

The second step was providing participants with a copy of the transcribed interview for member checking before proceeding with qualitative data analysis. For accuracy, this step was completed by sending each participant an electronic copy of the transcripts. The third step was starting the coding process, which includes identifying and signifying any statements or expressions made by the participants. Statements and expressions were organized based on codes found such as the following: good relationships, reasons for being away, reassurance, not intentional, feelings about daughter, negativity, and many other codes that will be shared later in this chapter. The fourth step consisted of arranging the codes into tentative themes and linking them to coded data and the dataset to find any thematic structure to support each identified theme. The fifth step was to refine each theme to produce named and differentiated themes. The

final step was to create a narrative of the findings within the data analysis themes, which described the lived experiences of formerly incarcerated African American males' parenting experience with their daughters.

Evidence of Trustworthiness

These study results were supplemented by examining the data, data analysis, and assumptions to determine whether the study is accurate. The results of credibility findings were guaranteed through member-checking. The researcher sent each participant their interview transcripts via email to review accuracy and any changes they may have wanted to make. None of the participants had any changes; each verified their transcripts as accurate. Transferability was established by providing detailed analyzed data that can be applied to other situations and populations, such as incarcerated mother-daughter relationships. Audit trails and detailed descriptions were combined with the research design and methods to improve dependability. The use of field notes/audit trails helped reduce bias and focus on the participants' trustworthiness. The reflexivity of participants supported the confirmability of the results from member checking, lived experiences, acknowledging personal relationships, and preferences by remaining neutral to participants' responses.

Credibility

Credibility was established through detailed analysis of the data and member checking to ensure the results were correct and accurate. As stated by Korstjens and Moser (2018), the strategies to ensure credibility are prolonged engagement, persistent observation, triangulation, and member checking. Each participant was emailed a copy of

their interview transcripts to complete member checking. I performed triangulation to establish credibility through the outcomes of each participant's results/experiences through the interviews. All participants verified their transcripts as accurate; no changes were needed.

Transferability

Transferability provides a detailed analysis of your study for others to transfer the findings to new settings or situations. Korstjens and Moser (2018) indicated that transferability allows readers to assess whether their research findings are transferable to their environment. Providing a rich account of descriptive data such as how the research was carried out, sample size, demographic info, and interview procedure are ways to help others in the transferability of your research. My research findings provided detailed and thick descriptions of research design and methods to develop transferability for others to apply to other populations, situations, and settings.

Dependability

Dependability is the aspect of consistency in research. Ensure the analysis process is aligned with the research design to create consistency and reliable findings. Audit trails and detailed descriptions were kept throughout the entire process of the study. An outside contractor was used to help determine the study's dependability based on the data collection, data analysis, and study results. Dependability was established based on the audit trails confirming that the data collected from the participants was accurate and ensured the data collection supported the findings.

Confirmability

Confirmability is the reflection of the participant's experiences rather than the experiences/ideas of the researcher. Confirmability was ensured through the process of notetaking and reflexivity. Korstjens and Moser (2018) shared that reflexivity recognizes the significance of being self-aware and reflexive about your role in collecting, analyzing, and interpreting data and pre-conceived assumptions. In the process of confirmability, I had to reassure there were no chances of having the participant's transcripts distorted. The confirmability of the results from member checking and participants' lived experiences remained neutral to participants' responses.

Results

The results of this study are organized by the research question: how does incarceration impact African American fathers' parenting experience after their release from incarceration? This research question formed the basis of presenting the results of the study. Eleven semi-structured open-ended interview questions were audio-recorded with the eight participants based on their lived experiences as incarcerated fathers. Due to confidentiality, each participant was referred to as a "respondent" and given a number based on the interview order. All interviews were completed individually, and member-checking was accurate based on the participant's confirmation. Two coding cycles were completed; the second cycle produced thirty-eight codes from which eight categories and themes were developed. Braun and Clark's method of data analysis was utilized to identify the themes and patterns in the data. Nine themes emerged in the data analysis from the gathered participant's narratives.

The participants' responses entailed a percentage of the overall frequency and meaning of the participant's terms of incarceration. The following tables 2-4 entail information about; the number of times incarcerated, the number of years incarcerated, and the number of years since the last release from incarceration.

Table 2How Many Times Have You Been Incarcerated?

PARTICIPANTS	NUMBER OF TIMES INCARCERATED	VERBATIM
R1	2	
R2	1	
R3	2	Twice
R4	3	
R5	4	Hell, I've been in and out so many times I can't keep track
D .		
R6	2	
R7	1	
R8	2	
MEAN	2.125	
FREQUENCY	1time	25%
	2-3 times	63%
	4 times	13%

Table 3
What Was Your Longest Incarcerated Sentence?

PARTICIPANT	NUMBER OF YEARS SERVED	VERBATIM
R1	14	13 years and 11 months
R2	16	15 years and 9 months
R3	11	11 years
R4	7	7 years
R5	13	12.5 years
R6	3	32 months
R7	15	14 years 8 months
R8	10	10 years
MEAN	11.125	
FREQUENCY	1-5 years	13%
	6-10 years	25%
	11-15 years	50%
	>15 years	13%

Table 4

How Long Have You Been Released from Incarceration?

PARTICIPANT	NUMBER OF YEARS OUT OF PRISON	VERBATIM	
R1	7	7 years	
R2	14	14 years in May 2022	
R3	12	About 12 years	
R4	6	Five going on six years in April	
R5	10	I been out since 2012. I went back in 2010 for a violation	
R6	5	Little over 5 years	
R7	5	5 years	
R8	9	9 years	
		<i>y</i>	
MEAN	8.5		
FREQUENCY	1-5 years	25%	

6-10 years	50%
11-15 years	25%

Table 5 entailed the ages of each participant when they became a father and whether the pregnancy was planned. It also shows the mean age and frequency of ages of each participant.

VERBATIM

WAS THE

TABLE 5

At what age did you become a father, and was the pregnancy planned?

AT WHAT

PARTICIPANTS

	AGE DID YOU BECOME A FATHER?		PREGNANCY PLANNED?
R1	16		No
R2	17	Between 17- 18 years old	No, it wasn't at all
R3	18		No
R4	30		No, it wasn't really planned
R5	16		No, not at all
R6	20		No, I never had any planned pregnancies

R 7	18		No
R8	19		No
MEAN	19.25		
FREQUENCY	Under 18	38%	
	18-20 years	50%	
	Over 20 years	13%	

Responses to the interview Question 2

In response to Interview Question 2: What were your daughter's ages (s) during your time of incarceration? Respondent 1 stated: "The oldest was 1 year old, and the other two was born after I was incarcerated." Additionally, Respondent 2 shared: "I think she was around 5 or 6 years old."

Respondent 3verbalized:

"She was born when I was incarcerated."

Respondent 4 said:

"She was 18 months until she was 5 years old when I got home."

Respondent 5 expressed:

"She was born, then I don't think she was a year old when I got incarcerated."

Respondent 6 shared:

"She was an infant."

Respondent 7 expressed sadness:

"She was 4 days old when I got incarcerated."

Respondent 8 stated:

"My oldest was 9 then had a 5-year-old, 1-year-old, and 6-month-old."

Theme 1: Being actively present and building a healthy attachment bond to establish a father-daughter relationship.

Being actively present in their daughter's life before incarceration was one of the interview questions; this question was recognized as one of the key themes in the data analysis. 7 out of 8 participants acknowledged they were actively present in their daughter's life before they were incarcerated. It was also acknowledged that they had a secure attachment bond within that finding. Except for participant 3, the remaining participants expressed their active role in their daughter's life.

Respondent 1 replied:

"Yes, I was active in her life before I went to prison; I seen her every day. Yes, we had attachment bond because she was a baby then."

Respondent 2 shared:

"Yes, I was actively present in her life. All yeah, it was a attachment bond."
Respondent 4 stated:

"Yes, I was actively involved in her life, and we had a bond."

Respondent 5 verbalized:

"Oh yeah, I was present in her life, and the attachment bond was there."

Respondent 6 implied:

"Yes, I was very active, and it was a close bond."

Respondent 7 shared:

"She was 4 days old, and I was present each day until I went to prison."

Respondent 8 stated:

"Yes, I was present in all of their lives and had a bond with each one."

Theme 2: Building Good Father-Daughter Relationships

This theme emerged from the analyzed data that addresses the overall father-daughter relationship prior to incarceration. All except participant 3 expressed good relationships or a neutral mention.

Respondent 1 shared:

It was a good relationship. Really just going to get her every day and spending time with her. Other than that, I didn't know how it was sleeping with her every night because I didn't never sleep with her at night.

Respondent 2 stated:

"Our relationship was good, it could have been better, but it was good overall."
Respondent 4 implied happily: "Shit, that was my first daughter; our relationship was beautiful. You know she was my first child."

Respondent 5 replied:

"Our relationship was good."

Respondent 6 verbalized:

"It was good she always wanted to be with me."

Respondent 7 shared:

"I was not physically present. I got locked up when she was 4 days old."

Respondent 8 stated:

"Before I was incarcerated, I only had a relationship with one (my 9-year-old). It was a normal relationship. We lived together all her life until I got locked up. With my other daughters, I still seen them every day."

Theme 3: Explanation, reasons for being away, and reassurance of why daddy is not coming home.

The third emerging theme from the data analysis was explaining and reasons for being away from home. This theme emerged from interview question 4. There was a 50% split among participants who shared with their daughter why they were physically absent and 50% who did not share the reason for absence in their life during a specific time.

"No, I didn't explain because, over time, I think she figured it out."

Respondent 2 shared:

Respondent 1 implied:

"Umm, I don't think I ever really explained; I think her mom did, but she seemed to understand. She didn't really ask me no questions or nothing like that, so her mom explained it to her."

Respondent 3 stated:

"I explained to her when she was about 15-16 years old, something like that."

Respondent 4 verbalized:

"When I got locked up, you know she was coming to see me in Big Muddy, and she was wondering how come I wasn't coming home. I was explaining to her that

daddy can't come home; I did some bad things that landed me up in here. There I was, letting her know that I will be home soon and everything and that I need her to try to be strong and wait until I get home."

Respondent 5 shared:

"It was during the time I was incarcerated that she got curious why I wasn't coming home, and I explained to her."

Respondent 6 replied:

"I never explained it because they were so young at the time. No need to explain. If she asks question, I will explain, but I won't bring it up."

Respondent 7 verbalized:

"Yes, as she got older, I explained to her."

Respondent 8 shared:

"I don't think I ever explained to them. But my oldest really didn't need an explanation; she understood."

Theme 4: Keeping in contact while away and how often.

The fourth theme emerging from the data analysis was the form of contact while incarcerated. Each participant expressed their form of communication they may have had with their daughter while incarcerated. The forms of contact included regular visits, letters, telephone calls, and videos. All participants except participant 3 provided their form of communication while incarcerated.

Respondent 1 implied:

"I had pretty good communication because my mother had her all the time and I used to have visit, talk to her on the phone and sent her letters and everything. I kept in contact my whole bid."

Respondent 2 shared:

"Mostly phone calls, very few visits. Overall, through phone calls throughout my whole sentence."

Respondent 4 stated:

"Yeah, I wrote letters, called home, and they came up to visit me twice a month.

Once I got to the feds, I was still able to contact her and call home but the visits, there was no more visits. That's when it really got hard. I didn't see her for 19 months. That's when her mother got on drugs, and I was fighting for custody from the joint, for me to have custody because I have full custody of my girl now.

Respondent 5 verbalized:

"Yes, I wrote letters, and I would make her videos. The institution I was at, we were able to make our kid's videos. So, I made her videos at least once a week and sent them home. I kept in contact my whole time incarcerated."

Respondent 6 shared:

"I used to talk to them; I rarely got visits because I was so far away. I would send pictures home. I did keep in contact throughout my time."

Respondent 7 replied:

"I used to have to call my mom's house to talk to her or call my sister's house.

My mom and sister brought her to see me; well, her mom did bring her at the

beginning to see me. After a while, her mom couldn't bring her because of her grandma's funky ass."

Respondent 8 stated:

"I did all three, visits, letters, and calls home. Sometimes there wasn't visits depending on where a muthafucka was. Colorado was like 1300 miles away from home. I kept in contact my whole bid."

Theme 5: The overall thoughts on your daughter being told negative things about you being away.

The fifth theme emerges from the possibility of the daughters being told negative things about their father while away and having an impact on their father-daughter relationship. Each participant expressed their experiences of the possibility of negativity being said about their absence and the avoidance it may have caused.

Respondent 1 replied:

"Yes, it happened to me a lot with her throughout our relationship through her mother. It happened a lot her mom used to always tell her negative things and turn her against me, and I always proved her momma wrong. After I came home, she was able to see it was all lies."

Respondent 2 shared:

"I don't think any of that happened, but you know, it could have been possible, and you know, probably would have been a different turn out. But overall, like through the phone calls and everything went well, and there was no negativity, so I don't think anything like that occurred."

Respondent 3 response was:

Oh, some of the negative things that I think, pretty much of that was I wasn't too much of a father, period. Or I wasn't reliable or dependable or anything like that. I mean things like that if you wanna call that negative. But it puts a strain on your relationship with your child. I was never in her life; you know what I'm saying, like in the physical. You know she was born when I was incarcerated. I think that makes a major difference when you're able to be in your child's life, even though visitations or just talking on the phone. You know, I never really had the opportunity because, at the age of like 3, her mom told me not to call their house no more. Pretty much, I didn't have any contact with my daughter or anything like that. So, if I was able to be there, then there would be a difference in the physical or maybe through calling and checking on her and stuff.

Respondent 4 verbalized:

"Oh, strong thoughts. There were very strong. I knew she was getting told bad things about me. Once I left the state and went to the feds, it got kinda hard because I couldn't physically let her know about the bad of what she was hearing."

Respondent 5 stated:

"I don't really get off or look off into the negativity things of what someone told her. I teach her to make her own decisions, and regardless of what anybody got to say, that's their opinion. Form your own opinion, whatever you think you know right from wrong."

Respondent 6 added:

"They were too young to understand, so I'm not sure if they were told anything negative."

Respondent 7 stated:

"Oh, BIG POSSIBILITY, 100%. My support group, they never let things get out of control. My baby started walking for me when I was in prison; she didn't walk for nobody but me. She didn't walk; I made her stand up and start walking for me in there. I raised her from the inside."

Respondent 8 shared:

"Oh, it's pretty high. I didn't let the negativity affect me because my daughters pretty much knew who I was. The negative stuff didn't interfere with my relationship with them."

Theme 6: Rule enforcement, involved on decisions, and having a fatherly role while incarcerated.

The sixth theme emerged from the data analysis of the participant's parenting role and what input they had on the development and choices of their daughter's life.

Respondent 1 said:

"I didn't try to force the rules. I didn't try to do nothing that I wasn't there to deal with if it went wrong. I didn't never try to force no rules on her, none of that. I really didn't have no input on that because I let her mom deal with it because I wasn't there.

Respondent 2 replied:

"Oh yeah, you know if her mom was getting on her about things, then she would come to me, and I wouldn't take side. I would explain to her that you need to

listen to your mom stuff like that. But I'm glad about the way she turned out; I wasn't very involved in that process. Her mom had the final decision, but if something came up, I would give me input, but her mom had the last say so on that.

Respondent 3 stated:

"I had no knowledge of any of that."

Respondent 4 verbalized:

"I was very involved. Because I know when being around the wrong friends what that leads to. With her doctor visits and everything, I stayed on top of that, even to this day. I take them all to the doctor (laughing); yeah, I wanna know what's going on. Just like at school right now. The school knows to call daddy, and I'm go come out and discipline.

Respondent 5 shared:

"As far as her doctor visits and everything that was solely upon her grandmother, she took care of that aspect of things. But as far as helping with her school and what to look for in being out there in the streets by herself is what I really focused on."

Respondent 6 implied:

"With one daughter, I was informed on things, but with my other daughter, I had no say-so. It made me feel like I was absent in the physical form."

Respondent 7 shared:

"It was natural as if I was there. It's just that my body wasn't there. My voice was LOUD! I had input on everything."

Respondent 8 stated: "

I was actively involved, but I didn't try to overplay my role. I couldn't threaten them into doing nothing, and I didn't make a threat I couldn't deliver on. So, I enforced as much as I could.

Theme 7: Father-daughter relationship after release from incarceration and current status.

Relationship status once released from incarceration until now is the seventh emerging theme from the data analysis. Each participant reflected on their relationship entering society after incarceration until now.

Respondent 1 shared:

"Our relationship been good. I communicate with them, I talk to them at least three times a week, and then other than that, that's how it is."

Respondent 2 stated:

"It was like it was strange being home, but then everything worked out. That's been great, been really great. I'm proud of her, the way she turned out."

Respondent 3 verbalized:

Well, really, for real, for real, I'm still trying to get to that positive relationship, to be honest with you. I mean, it's done got better. You know we umm, she grown now like 25 about to turn 26. So, I mean, it's gotten better, but it was hard trying to get that father-daughter bond. Yeah, it was real tough. At one point of time, it was seeming like instead of the love being real; you find yourself trying to buy your daughters love during that time. I mean, it goes back to finance dealing with my daughter. You know the only time she calls me is when she needs me or when

she want something. I mean, I get tired of that; you know, it makes me feel like the only time your child wants to reach out to you is because she wants something or wanna go somewhere, and I don't really think it's fair for your child to be like that. You know why does it feels like the only time your child reaches out is when she wants something. It comes a point when you just sit down and open up to your child and talk to her about it. You know that's what I get out of all of it. I think I have gotten past that pretty much now.

Respondent 4 replied:

We had to start all the way over from scratch because for those 19 months without them coming to see me, the physical form was dimensioning away. Because when you are used to seeing the father gone for that long, even for today, family members are here for the physical form, it's there until after a period of time. It was something like outta sight outta mind to most people. That's what was really going on with her until I did come home. She was stun like I know this, my daddy's voice, but the physical form was new. But our relationship grew beautifully because you know the negativity of what she was getting told by her mother; she finally realized now that it was all lies. And that grew our relationship even stronger because this whole time when I was locked up at first, she was kind of scared to talk to me. Now since I been out, our conversations have gotten an understanding, and comprehension have gotten broader. She is getting older now; she understands and see's things now like, "oh, that's what daddy means.

Respondent 5 shared:

"It's still great; it is really great, surprisingly so, especially when I've been gone for so long. But overall, I think what helped it was being able to have that communication. I'll go back to the first time she came to see me; she was at least 5 years old. When I left, she wasn't even 1 yet, so for her to remember me and know who I was, was surprising in itself. But I think what helped was me consistently sending her videos, talking on the phone with her, letters, and just being there by any means necessary. There have been little challenges or whatnot because she hasn't been used to me being there when I first came home, but we got through those things by her seeing that daddy ain't bending. And everything been positive and healthy."

Respondent 6 said:

"It's been the same as before I left. I have custody of two of my daughters now. I still talk to my other daughter and active in her life. We still building a healthy and positive relationship."

Respondent 7 replied:

There was never a disconnect. She never came with that. I hate you stuff; none of that you missed out. My support group was everything; it's all about a support group when you're in there. If your support group ain't as strong as you are, sometimes it might not work; I guess I was a lucky guy. I was scared when I got out; she was 14 years old. I didn't know how she was go come at me. I seen her a lot but being on the outside is different. She was scared as well; she stood and look at me at first. But overall, that's my little best friend. That's my baby! I mean, it's stronger; it's as if I never left. Our relationship has grown big time. Her

little big head butt will come and lay in bed with me. We have a beautiful father-daughter relationship. That's my heart. But we don't ever talk about it (me being incarcerated). She don't ever bring up the past. She only talks about the fun times of visiting me in prison. It's like I never left. You can't let those kids down; no matter what, give them the real and let them know ahead of time. When kids older, they see the real, and they understand that. Don't try to run no games on the kids because, for some kids, they get that negative feedback/energy from the other parent, but when they see it for themselves, they see it was all just negativity. Once she seen it and understood for herself, I think she was 7 years old when I got my first letter from her.

Respondent 8 shared

"It's been all positive because they are all grown now. We talk, and we all interact."

Theme 8: Daddy's girl

Being a daddy's girl was the final emerging theme from the data analysis.

Participants shared their experiences and thoughts on if their daughter was considered a daddy's girl.

Respondent 1 implied:

"Yes, I think she's a daddy's girl still because every time her and her momma have a issue or something, she always call me or try to come around me. I always know the reason why without her even saying anything; I already know because I can tell by how long she stays around me. Every time she come to the house, she stay around me all day, and I know she been arguing with her momma. So, I

know how it is, and she don't never tell me, but I can look at her and tell what it is."

Respondent 2 shared:

"Yeah, I consider she's a daddy's girl. She's always been and love me a certain way."

Respondent 3 verbalized"

No, she's definitely not a daddy's girl."

Respondent 4 replied:

"Yes, she's definitely a daddy's girl. It's not like she get any and everything from me, but she know now that she can come and talk to me about any and everything, and I won't sugarcoat it or nothing with her. It's more than just materialistic, when she come and talk to me now, she'll sit back and talk and ask me questions, and she take heed to the things that I tell her."

Respondent 5 shared:

I don't know if I would say she's a daddy's girl because, like I said, I've been gone for so long, so a lot of things I missed out on. I didn't really get to experience a lot of those father-daughter relationships. Even though we have a great relationship now were we can sit and talk on the phone for hours, we have to say, "man, look, we gots to get off this phone; we been on here for so long." So it's always a blessing, but I know it be times she feel some kind of way, but our relationship is one of the best I couldn't ask for a better relationship. But I know she have that feeling of missing out on a lot, not getting to do this or getting to do that. So, I can't really say how that feels or what that would be like, so only thing

I can say is that far as her being a daddy's girl, if she needs something, she definitely know when to call. But she's my baby girl, and I tell her all the time me being free and being home today is solely due to her because I didn't have anything that I have now, but I have her, and she was my motivation for doing what I did to get myself back out for her. Like I said, I'm grateful for everything for the issues I had because at that time, that's all I had, and I needed to get back out here to her, to make a wrong, right.

Respondent 6 stated:

"One is a daddy's girl, and one is not. One would rather talk to her mom about things, and the other would run to me."

Respondent 7 shared:

"Well, my definition of a daddy's girl is a daughter who loves her daddy no matter what. I don't give a fuck how daddy was or what he did; a girl go always love her daddy. It's different from a boy. Yeah, my baby is a daddy's girl to the death. She does no wrong in my eyes, I would never let y'all see that, but she knows when she do wrong, I get her in line. But I am never going to put her out here on blast. That's my baby."

Respondent 8 replied:

"I think they all are daddy's girls. And what that mean to me is that they know they can depend on me. And they know I'm not go tun my back on them. And I think my level-headedness is what they get the most out of, and it makes me feel good. Because it ain't up to me to say whether I'm a great dad, it's up to my kids

to say I'm a great dad. And they give me validation on that. And the biggest validation they can give you as their dad is trusting their kids with you."

Summary

The data analysis accounts for the current study and provides insight into the research question: How does incarceration impact African American fathers' parenting experience with their daughters? There were 8 participants in this study, and audio-recorded telephone interviews were conducted. Braun & Clark methods were used for thematic analysis before using MAXQDA for transcription. I did have notes jotted down during the interview to help emphasize words and take down extra information. Throughout the coding process, I obtained 36 codes, nine categories, and 8 themes from the first and second coding cycles analyzed data.

Each theme reflected the interview questions; however, the themes allowed the participant's responses to flow into a story. Each participant had a story to share about their personal experiences of having a daughter before, during, and after incarceration. In the responses to each theme, the participants provided great information that shows how the father-daughter relationship evolves over time. Each participant's responses were raw, uncut, with no filter expressing their parenting and father roles while absent from their daughter for long periods.

In Chapter 5, I will discuss the interpretation of the finds and provide support for the research question and the eight themes provided in this chapter. Chapter 5 will also present the study's limitations, recommendations, and implications for positive social change. Lastly, in chapter 5, I will provide final thoughts from participants and highlight notable quotes that stood out during the interviews.

Chapter 5: Discussion, Recommendations, and Conclusion

Introduction

This generic qualitative study was conducted to understand African American fathers' parenting role/experience while incarcerated to help them become better parents upon release. During this process, I recruited nine participants through purposeful sampling. Although nine participants were recruited, only eight qualified for the study. Data collection was completed through open-ended interview questions via telephone (see Appendix C). Once each interview was complete, the audio recordings were transcribed and analyzed using Braun and Clark's method of data analysis. During the process of coding, I found eight themes from the overall analyzed data, such as (a) being actively present and building a healthy attachment bond to establish father-daughter relationships; (b) building good father-daughter relationships; and (c) explanation, reasons for being away, and reassurance of why daddy is not coming home; (d) keeping in contact while away and how often; (e) the overall thoughts on your daughter being told negative things about you being away; (f) rule enforcement, involved on decisions, and having a fatherly role while incarcerated; (g) father-daughter relationship after release from incarceration and current status; and (h) daddy's girl.

Conducting this study will allow professionals from the justice system to social workers to understand how African American father-daughter relations are essential before, during, and after their release from incarceration. There are no research findings on the study involving African American father-daughter relationships that focus on the aspect of fathers incarcerated. However, studies are available on father-daughter relationships and studies on mother-child relationships. Once again, there is minimal

research on the parenting roles of African American fathers in the justice system that may have an attachment bond with their daughters.

Hopefully, the findings and analysis of this study can help and support existing and future parenting programs and possibly personnel in the criminal justice system. Programs such as the National Fatherhood Initiative and National Responsible Fatherhood Clearinghouse are just a few programs that may benefit from this research. These programs cover many great topics discussed in the literature review section of Chapter 2 that would help any father become the best dad he can be. The participants provided great information not always shown in the media about formerly incarcerated African American males' dedication and hard work as a father behind bars. Key findings in this study show that African American men are involved in their child's life before, during, and after their incarceration release. It also shows how the fathers contact their children throughout their sentence to be present mentally and emotionally. I will discuss and interpret the findings obtained from the identified themes in this chapter and compare them to the peer review findings in Chapter 2. This chapter also discusses the study's limitations, recommendations, implications, and summary.

Interpretation of the Findings

Each of the eight participants in this study had several matters in common, yet their stories offered a different perspective as formerly incarcerated African American fathers. According to Thomas et al. (2022), the qualitative analysis showed fathers' three attributes during their incarceration: a nurturer, a protector, and a provider. These qualities are the same as some fathers physically present in their child's life. Being that a person is out of sight does not always mean they are out of mind. The participants'

experiences will reveal what it's like to be an African American male, father, and formerly incarcerated inmate.

The findings of this qualitative analysis address the research question, which was arranged into eight themes that explain how African American fathers faced fatherhood while at the same time suffering separation from their families due to incarceration. The themes characterize eight unique fatherhood identities: actively present and building healthy attachment bonds, building good father-daughter relationships, explanations, reasons for being away, reassurance, keeping in contact and how often, negative thoughts on way daddy is behind bars, relationship status upon release and now, and daddy's girl. These themes align with the four stages of Bowlby's attachment theory. The four stages include secure attachment, resistance, avoidance, and disoriented. Throughout the results section, aliases are utilized in place of participants' names to protect privacy.

Daddy is No Longer Here

The second interview question explained how old the daughters were when daddy left for prison. This question shows how an attachment was established (if any) before dad went to prison. One dad stated, "she (my daughter) was four days old when I got incarcerated." As the literature review section in Chapter 2 mentioned, under Incarcerated African American fathers' children are being raised without their dads present in their life. Another dad shared, "she (my daughter) was born while I was incarcerated. The crimes of the participants were not asked, but as Chapter 2 stated, racism and drugs are two of the leading causes of imprisonment for African American males in the United States (Enders et al., 2018). Although African American fathers face many barriers while

incarcerated, this was not a merging theme. In Chapter 2, Siennick (2016) shared fathers in prison lack time with their families, which impacts their children.

Theme 1: Actively present and build healthy attachment bonds.

Like the first theme, actively presenting and building healthy attachment bonds supported the literature identified in Chapter 2. Many of the participants reflected on simply building that bond with their daughter. This included being in the physical form, providing financially, and just being a dad to their daughter. Of the 8 participants, only one father did not have the pleasure of building that healthy attachment bond (Bowlby's attachment theory stage 1) during the first two years of his daughter's life. The peer-reviewed literature supported girls value the father-daughter attachment bond early. One dad shared how he established an attachment bond "I was active in her life before I went to prison; I saw her every day."

Theme 2: Building "good" father-daughter relationships.

Building "good" father-daughter relationships are associated with the literature presented in Chapter 2. My literature highlighted the good relationships these participants built with their daughters as the daughter grew older. The literature supports how early fathers' involvement with their daughters has decreased the risk of early puberty, reduced teen pregnancy, and reduced early sexual activity (Yogman & Garfield, 2016). A quick response from one participant was expressed with excitement; he stated, "Shit, that was my first daughter; our relationship was beautiful! You know she was my first child." Just hearing how this father expressed his relationship with his daughter provided a sense of his impact on his daughter's early life. His response shows his attachment bond with his first child (daughter).

Theme 3: Exploration, reasons for being away, and reassurance.

Exploration, reasons for being away, and reassurance were the third emerging themes from interview question 4: At what point, if any, do you explain to your daughter why you were incarcerated? This theme was interesting because the findings were 50/50 between participants who shared why they were incarcerated with their daughter and those who said nothing. Peer review literature supported this theme by tying into the father-daughter relationship, and the impact incarceration may have on the daughters. A participant shared, "It was when I was incarcerated that she got curious why I wasn't coming home, and I explained to her." Another participant stated, "I was explaining to her that daddy can't come home; I did some bad things that landed me here. There I was, letting her know that I will be home soon and everything and that I need her to try to be strong and wait until I get home." Another participant stated, "I don't think I ever explained to them."

Theme 4: Keeping in contact and how often.

Keeping in contact and how often emerged from interview question six, "During your time of incarceration, were you able to keep in contact with your daughter, and if so, what form of contact (phone, visits, letters)? How often?" Peer review literature supports this theme by the communication level fathers have with daughters. As stated in the literature review, some fathers chat/communicate with their daughters about romantic and sexual relationships as they age. Although most of the participant's daughters were very young when they were incarcerated, those levels of communication probably did not happen. However, each participant either did or tried to keep in contact with their daughter throughout their incarceration sentence. Forms of contact ranged among the

participants from phone calls, letters, visitations, and even videos. A few participants shared: "I kept in contact my whole bid." Another participant shared, "Sometimes there weren't visits depending on where a muthafucka was. Colorado was like 1300 miles away from home. I kept in contact my whole bid." One participant stated, "Once I got to the feds, I could still contact her, call home, but there were no more visits. That's when it got hard. I didn't see her for 19 months." One statement stood out to me because I had never heard of this form of contact from prison; the participant shared, "The institution I was at, we were able to make our kids videos. I kept in contact my whole time incarcerated."

Theme 5: Negative implications on why daddy is behind bars.

The fifth theme emerged from interview questions eight and 8(a), which asked, "What are your thoughts on the possibility of your daughter being told negative things about you which may have influenced your father-daughter relationship? 8(a) Do you feel like there was an avoidance that made your daughter look or think of you in a different perspective? Explain.

Peer review literature from Chapter 2 supports this theme by discussing incarceration's impact on children when a parent is locked up. Not only does the parent being locked up cause a negative impact on the child but being told negative things about the child's father can also carry more burden for that child. This theme was based on negative things told to the daughter from various sources (mother, grandmother, aunts, cousins, etc.). Each participant shared their experiences and thoughts of their daughters being told negative things about them while incarcerated. One participant replied, "Oh, BIG POSSIBILITY, 100%. My support group, never let things get out of control."

much of a father, period. Or I wasn't reliable or dependable or anything like that." Here's the statement of another participant "It happened a lot her mom always used to tell her negative things and turn her against me, and I always proved her momma wrong."

Two participants had different reactions; one indicated, "I don't think any of that happened, but you know it could have been possible, and you probably would have been a different turnout." The other implied, "I don't get off or look off into the negative things of what someone told her. I teach her to make her own decisions, and regardless of what anybody got to say, that's their opinion."

Theme 6: Rule enforcement, involvement in decisions, and fatherly role while incarcerated.

My analysis and findings for this theme revealed a split on how involved these participants were with their daughters while incarcerated. This theme emerged from interview questions 9, 9(a), and 9(b). The interview questions asked: Tell me about your parenting style while incarcerated. 9 (a) How did you enforce your rules? 9(b) How much input did you have in the decision-making process of your daughter's life? Please provide some examples. (Example: doctor/dentist visits, school, friends, etc.). The peer-review literature supports this theme under African American Men and Parenting after Incarceration. Finance is one of the leading parenting roles that fathers face, unable to provide financially as they used to before incarceration. Some participants felt like they had no voice in their daughter's life because they were incarcerated and not there physically to contribute or give an opinion. One participant spoke, "It was natural as if I was there." Another participant shared, "I was actively involved, but I didn't try to

overplay my role." Another participant revealed, "But helping with her school and what to look for in being out there in the streets by herself is what I focused on."

Theme 7: Relationship status upon release and now.

Peer review literature supported this theme in Chapter 2. This theme emerged from interview questions 10, 10(a), and 10(b); the questions asked: Tell me about your relationship with your daughter since you have been released from incarceration? 10 (a) How was the connection, was there a disconnect or uncertain feelings? Please explain. 10 (b) How has the relationship grown in a positive or negative way? Please explain. Data analysis shows that this theme produced great detailed information from each participant. The following statements are the ones that stood out the most. "At one point, it seemed like instead of the love being real, you find yourself trying to buy your daughter's love during that time." Another participant "We had to start over from scratch because the physical form was dimensioning away for those 19 months without them coming to see me." A third response "There was never a disconnect."

Theme 8: Daddy's girl

The final theme emerged from interview question 12 to understand what the participants considered "daddy's girl," the question asked, "Would you consider your daughter as a "daddy's girl" if so, tell me what that means? The literature review supports this theme by research showing the effects of not having a father in their daughter's life. Research has shown that girls go through so much without having their fathers physically present. Even the participants provided their definition of a daddy's girl. Participant reaction "No, she's not a daddy's girl." Another response "I don't know if I would say she's a daddy's girl because, as I said, I've been gone for so long, so a lot of things I

missed out on." On the other hand, the following responses show a more positive response. Participant shared, "Well, my definition of a daddy's girl is a daughter who loves her daddy no matter what." The participant stated, "Yeah, I consider she's a daddy's girl."

According to the four stages of Bowlby's attachment theory, my study outcomes revealed that participants who were actively involved in their daughter's lives had a more robust attachment bond than a resistant or disoriented bond. The discoveries support Bowlby's attachment theory. Therefore, chapter 2 verified that individuals who were present/active during their incarceration sentence had less hassle rebuilding or reestablishing a father-daughter bond.

Limitations of the Study

Data analysis of this study was consistent with the limitations of the study findings mentioned in chapter one. Gathering background information about the participant's incarceration history was one of the limitations of the research study. Another limitation was understanding the participant's role as a formerly incarcerated African American father. A considerable sample size to acquire the essential data was a limitation that addressed the possibility of not recruiting enough participants. However, I was able to recruit 9 participants for my study, yet only 8 participants fit the study's criteria. My sample size for the study was 8-10 participants. Those 8 participants allowed me to gather rich and detailed information for my study.

Recommendations

Although I found very little to no research focused on formerly incarcerated

African American males with daughters, research is available on fathers. I would like to

see more research focusing on African American males because they seem to be the race with the most negative image as fathers. This especially applies to African American males from low-poverty communities. As stated in chapter one, research shows African American males with a history of incarceration provide less than fathers who have not been incarcerated. This is the negativity portrayed in the media, but my study shows that the participants were active before, during, and after their incarceration sentences.

The analysis and findings of the generic qualitative study answered the research question: How does incarceration impact African American fathers' parenting experience with their daughters? The eight formerly incarcerated African American males shared their experiences through audio telephone interviews. The analysis of the findings shows the interconnectivity between father-daughter relationships and Bowlby's attachment theory, along with the peer review articles in chapter two. Although some of the themes did not align with some articles in chapter two, the overall study aligns to show that Bowlby's attachment theory was present in the lives of many of the participant's relationships with their daughter.

I recommend the following for future studies on generic qualitative studies.

Future studies can entail a larger sample size, including daughters and sons. That sample size should also include formerly incarcerated African American males who have served a minimum of 5 years, compared to my current study, which focused on individuals released 5-15 years. I recommend future research on daughters' perspectives of having a father incarcerated while growing up. That study can compare the different experiences of both a father and daughter. Overall, my current study can produce many future research topics that can be useful in creating fatherhood programs, reentry programs, and

parenting classes, all of this information can be meaningful within jails and prison systems to provide fathers the opportunity to be "dad" again once they are released back to society.

Hopefully, my study will bring awareness to the justice system and other professions on how not all African American fathers are deadbeats. This study has shed some light on those fathers actively in their daughter's life. It may not always be easy, but this study shows it's still possible to be a father behind bars.

Implications

The findings of this study have implications for criminal justice systems programs and policies that impact African American fathers in jail/prison. A positive social change for this study would be to offer parenting programs that help fathers throughout their sentence and provide specific programs for fathers transitioning back to society at least one year before their release. Providing these programs in the prison system may help fathers maintain and build positive/healthy relationships with their child/family from a distance. Programs such as the National Fatherhood Initiative provides the tools and training to increase father involvement. If such programs were offered through the criminal justice system, I believe father involvement would be more noticeable.

There are many positive ways to implement social change in the criminal justice system, but the question is, "will change happen?" As Thomas et al. (2022) stated, prisons/jails should be able to provide and support parent-child contact during incarceration; this may include but is not limited to low-cost or free phone calls, inperson, or remote visits. Those things sound simple and easy, but the criminal justice system has not implemented such changes in prisons/jails. Providing the parents with

low-cost or free phone calls to their children or in-person/ remote visits can strengthen those parents' self-esteem and identity. It would also increase resilience in both parents and children

Conclusion

In conclusion, this study has shed some light on how involved African American fathers are in their children's lives, whether before, during, or after incarceration.

Although my sample size was small, it provided detail on the importance of how incarceration may or may not affect father-daughter relationships/bonds. There is a stigma attached to African American fathers. The identified themes from this study highlighted the positivity of attachment bonds and healthy father-daughter relationships despite any negativity instilled in the daughters. I hope this study will bring about positive social change in the criminal justice system, even on a local community level. The following are quotes that some of the participants wanted to share as their final thoughts on the interview.

R1 shared: basically, a lot of fathers being away from their kids then when they come back to society it is like some parts of me didn't even want to deal with my kids, because of some of their mothers. I thought they were wrong, but after I grew up and thought about it, I realized I got to be the dad and not the child. Many people don't admit to or don't want to admit it, but I finally saw the wrong and try to correct things now.

R4 stated: with people locked up away from their kids for a long time, it puts a damper on the child. Especially when they're young and unable to communicate with their father because a child looks up to their father like you're my superhero. Nowadays, the incarceration system is higher. With the inmates not physically

having contact or sent way downstate or upstate away from their loved ones, the physical presence means a lot. When I came home, I got full custody of my little girl, it took me a minute to do so, but through the steps and degrees of education, I got her. Education plays a big part in the process. That's what Black men must get first; we must re-educate ourselves. The education we get in these school systems is not there. The educational program got me through the penitentiary; they offered it, and I took it. I definitely utilized my time with education, so that's what I want my kids to know. Even today, my little girl is a high honor roll student. I went through it with my pops being incarcerated, so I knew how it felt with my father locked up. I didn't want my kids going through the same thing!

R7 implied: "one thing you can't do with girls is play with their hearts! You have to be prepared for the teenage, YES, she go have a boyfriend and temptation go come, but you have to be prepared for it. You can't overlook it, be honest, talk to her, and give her the game. You have to be real with your daughters because if you don't, who be real to her. She go start taking advice from so ol' knucklehead. You have to break old patterns. You are your child's first teacher!"

R8 replied: "daughters hit your pockets more than sons, (laughing) that's the one thing.

But you have to do what you have to do. You don't ever want to see them (daughters) going through nothing, but sometimes you have to stand back and let them do them."

References

- Abdill, A. M. (2017). *Fathering from the margins*. Columbia University Press. https://doi.org/10.7312/abdi18002
- Adams, B. L. (2018). Paternal incarceration and the family: Fifteen years in review. Sociology Compass, 12(3), e12567. https://doi.org/10.1111/soc4.12567
- Adamsons, K. (2018). Quantity versus quality of nonresident father involvement:

 Deconstructing the argument that quantity doesn't matter. *Journal of Child*Custody, 15(1), 26–34. https://doi.org/10.1080/15379418.2018.1437002
- Ainsworth, M. D. S., & Bell, S. M. (1970). Attachment, exploration, and separation: Illustrated by the behavior of one-year-olds in a strange situation. *Child Development*, 41(1), 49–67. https://doi.org/10.2307/1127388
- Ainsworth, M. D. S., Blehar, M. C., Waters, E., & Wall, S. (2014). Patterns of attachment. *Psychology Press*. https://doi.org/10.4324/9781315802428
- Andersen, L. H. (2018). Assortative mating and the intergenerational transmission of parental incarceration risks. *Journal of Marriage and Family*, 80(2), 463–477. https://doi.org/10.1111/jomf.12459
- Ansari, A., Chen, K. K., Burrell, R. R., & Egolfopoulos, F. N. (2018). Effects of confinement, geometry, inlet velocity profile, and Reynolds number on the asymmetry of opposed-jet flows. *Theoretical and Computational Fluid Dynamics*, 32(3), 349–369. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00162-018-0457-1
- Antle, K., Gibson, C. L., & Krohn, M. D. (2019). The mediating role of family dynamics in the relationship between paternal incarceration and child behavior problems.

Journal of Crime and Justice, 43(1), 16–35. https://doi.org/10.1080/0735648x.2019.1619615

Arditti, J. A. (2016). A family stress-proximal process model for understanding the effects of parental incarceration on children and their families. *Couple and Family Psychology: Research and Practice*, *5*(2), 65–88.

https://doi.org/10.1037/cfp0000058

Barbour, R. S. (2001). Checklists for improving rigor in qualitative research: a case of the tail wagging the dog? *BMJ*, *322*(7294), 1115–1117.

https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.322.7294.1115

- Baumgartner, F. R., Epp, D. A., & Shoub, K. (2018). Suspect citizens: what 20 million traffic stops tell us about policing and race. Cambridge University Press.
- Benoit, D. (2004). Infant-parent attachment: Definition, types, antecedents, measurement, and outcome. *Pediatrics & Child Health*, *9*(8), 541–545.

 https://doi.org/10.1093/pch/9.8.541
- Boddy, C. R. (2016). Sample size for qualitative research. *Qualitative Market Research:*An International Journal, 19(4), 426–432. https://doi.org/10.1108/qmr-06-2016-0053
- Bornstein, M. H. (2019). *Handbook of parenting Volume 4, Social conditions and applied parenting*. Routledge.
- Bowlby, J. (1944). Forty-four juvenile thieves: Their characters and home-life (II).

 Psycnet.apa.org; International Journal of Psychoanalysis.

 https://psycnet.apa.org/record/1945-02692-001

- Bowlby, J. (1949). The Study and reduction of group tensions in the family. *Human Relations*, 2(2), 123–128. https://doi.org/10.1177/001872674900200203
- Bowlby, J. (1969). Attachment and loss. Vol. I. Attachment. *Man*, *5*(3), 523. https://doi.org/10.2307/2798963
- Bowlby, J. (1973). Attachment and loss. 2 separation anxiety and anger anxiety and anger. New York Basic Books.
- Braun, V., & Clarke, V. (2006). Using thematic analysis in psychology. *Qualitative Research in Psychology*, *3*(2), 77–101. https://doi.org/10.1191/1478088706qp063oa
- Bretherton, I. (1992). The origins of attachment theory: John Bowlby and Mary Ainsworth. *Developmental Psychology*, 28(5), 759–775. https://doi.org/10.1037/0012-1649.28.5.759
- Brown, T. N., Bell, M. L., & Patterson, E. J. (2016). Imprisoned by empathy. *Journal of Health and Social Behavior*, *57*(2), 240–256. https://doi.org/10.1177/0022146516645924
- Browning, S. L., Miller, R. R., & Spruance, L. M. (2001). Criminal incarceration dividing the ties that bind: Black men and their families. *Journal of African American Men*, *6*(1), 87–102. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12111-001-1016-0
- Brunton-Smith, I., & McCarthy, D. J. (2016). The effects of prisoner attachment to family on re-entry outcomes: A longitudinal assessment. *British Journal of Criminology*, *57*(2), azv129. https://doi.org/10.1093/bjc/azv129
- Bureau of Justice Statistics. (n.d.). Bureau of Justice Statistics (BJS) Publications & Products: National Corrections Reporting Program (NCRP). Www.bjs.gov.

- https://www.bjs.gov/index.cfm/dataonline/content/pub/html/content/acf/index.cfm?ty=pbdc&dcid=268&iid=1
- Cabrera, N. J., Volling, B. L., & Barr, R. (2018). Fathers are parents, too! Widening the lens on parenting for children's development. *Child Development Perspectives*, 12(3), 152–157. https://doi.org/10.1111/cdep.12275
- Campbell, C. G., & Winn, E. J. (2018). Father-daughter bonds: A comparison of adolescent daughters' relationships with resident biological fathers and stepfathers. *Family Relations*, 67(5), 675–686. https://doi.org/10.1111/fare.12342
- Carson, E. A. (2018, January). *Prisoners in 2016*. Bureau of Justice Statistics. https://bjs.ojp.gov/library/publications/prisoners-2016
- Castleberry, A., & Nolen, A. (2018). Thematic analysis of qualitative research data: Is it as easy as it sounds? *Currents in Pharmacy Teaching and Learning*, *10*(6), 807–815. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cptl.2018.03.019
- Chang, C. (2014, September 3). *Incarcerated fathers and the children left behind*. The Century Foundation. https://tcf.org/content/commentary/incarcerated-fathers-and-the-children-left-behind/?agreed=1.
- Charles, P., Muentner, L., & Kjellstrand, J. (2019). Parenting and incarceration:

 Perspectives on father-child involvement during reentry from prison. *Social Service Review*, 93(2), 218–261. https://doi.org/10.1086/703446
- Chatoor, I., Sechi, C., Vismara, L., & Lucarelli, L. (2021). A cross-sectional study of father- daughter/son interactions from 1 month to 3 years of age with the feeding and play scales: Exploring the psychometric properties. *Appetite*, *168*, 105671.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.appet.2021.105671

- Chenail, R. (2014). Interviewing the investigator: Strategies for addressing instrumentation and researcher bias concerns in qualitative research. *The Qualitative Report*, *16*(1). https://doi.org/10.46743/2160-3715/2011.1051
- Cherry, K. (2019, July 17). The story of Bowlby, Ainsworth, and attachment theory.

 Verywell Mind. https://www.verywellmind.com/what-is-attachment-theory
 2795337
- Chetty, R., Hendren, N., Jones, M. R., & Porter, S. R. (2019). Race and economic opportunity in the United States: An intergenerational perspective*. *The Quarterly Journal of Economics*, *135*(2). https://doi.org/10.1093/qje/qjz042
- Coard, S. I. (2021). Race, discrimination, and racism as "growing points" for consideration: attachment theory and research with African American families. *Attachment & Human Development*, 1-11.

 https://doi.org/10.1080/14616734.2021.1976931
- Cochran, J. C., Siennick, S. E., & Mears, D. P. (2018). Social exclusion and parental incarceration impacts on adolescents' networks and school engagement. *Journal of Marriage and Family*, 80(2), 478–498. https://doi.org/10.1111/jomf.12464
- Cooper, S. M., Metzger, I., Georgeson, A., Golden, A. R., Burnett, M., & White, C. N. (2019). Communicative support and parental knowledge among African American residential fathers: Longitudinal associations with adolescent substance use. *Journal of Child and Family Studies*, *28*(12), 3433-3445. https://link.springer.com/article/10.1007/s10826-019-01525-2
- Copp, J. E., Giordano, P. C., Manning, W. D., & Longmore, M. A. (2018). Parental incarceration and child well-being: Conceptual and practical concerns regarding

- the use of propensity scores. *Socius: Sociological Research for a Dynamic World*, 4, 237802311877930. https://doi.org/10.1177/2378023118779306
- Creswell, J. W., & Creswell, J. D. (2018). Research Design: Qualitative, Quantitative, and Mixed Methods Approaches (5th ed.). Sage Publications, Inc.
- Creswell, J. W., & Miller, D. L. (2000). Determining validity in qualitative inquiry. *Theory into Practice*, *39*(3), 124–130. https://www.jstor.org/stable/1477543
- Crittenden, P. M. (2017). Gifts from Mary Ainsworth and John Bowlby. *Clinical Child Psychology and Psychiatry*, 22(3), 436–442. https://doi.org/10.1177/1359104517716214
- Davis, L., & Shlafer, R. J. (2016). Substance use among youth with currently and formerly incarcerated parents. *Smith College Studies in Social Work*, 87(1), 43–58. https://doi.org/10.1080/00377317.2017.1246797
- Davis, L., & Shlafer, R. J. (2017). Mental health of adolescents with currently and formerly incarcerated parents. *Journal of Adolescence*, *54*, 120–134. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.adolescence.2016.10.006
- Dehart, D., Shapiro, C., & Hardin, J. W. (2017). Impact of Incarceration on Families: A Single-Jurisdiction Pilot Study Using Triangulated Administrative Data & Qualitative Interviews. United States of America 03.
- Dworkin, S. L. (2012). Sample size policy for qualitative studies using in-depth interviews. *Archives of Sexual Behavior*, *41*(6), 1319–1320. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10508-012-0016-6

- Dwyer Emory, A. (2018). Explaining the consequences of paternal incarceration for children's behavioral problems. *Family Relations*, 67(2), 302–319. https://doi.org/10.1111/fare.12301
- Emory, Nepomnyaschy, Waller, Miller, & Haralampoudis. (2020). Providing after prison: Nonresident fathers' formal and informal contributions to children. *RSF: The Russell Sage Foundation Journal of the Social Sciences*, 6(1), 84.

 https://doi.org/10.7758/rsf.2020.6.1.04
- Enders, W., Pecorino, P., & Souto, A.-C. (2018). Racial disparity in U.S. imprisonment across states and over time. *Journal of Quantitative Criminology*, *35*(2), 365–392. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10940-018-9389-6
- Englander, M. (2012). The Interview: Data collection in descriptive phenomenological human scientific research*. *Journal of Phenomenological Psychology*, *43*(1), 13–35. https://doi.org/10.1163/156916212x632943
- Etikan, I. (2016). Comparision of snowball sampling and sequential sampling technique.

 Biometrics & Biostatistics International Journal, 3(1).

 https://doi.org/10.15406/bbij.2016.03.00055
- Fan, Y., Wu, K.-T., Aghvami, S. A., Fraden, S., & Breuer, K. S. (2021). Effects of confinement on the dynamics and correlation scales in kinesin-microtubule active fluids. *Physical Review E*, *104*(3). https://doi.org/10.1103/physreve.104.034601
- Federal Bureau of Prisons. (2019). *BOP: Statistics*. Bop.gov. https://www.bop.gov/about/statistics/

- Finkeldey, J. (2017). Parental incarceration, identity, and adult children's antisocial behavior. *Sociology Ph.D. Dissertations*. https://scholarworks.bgsu.edu/sociology_diss/157
- Fletcher, A. C., Hohl, M. L., Lee, G. Y., McCurdy, A., & Benito ☐ Gomez, M. (2021).

 Father-daughter relationships and autonomy development during college.

 Personal Relationships. https://doi.org/10.1111/pere.12396
- Folk, J. B., Mashek, D., Tangney, J., Stuewig, J., & Moore, K. E. (2015). Connectedness to the criminal community and the community at large predicts 1-year post-release outcomes among felony offenders. *European Journal of Social Psychology*, 46(3), 341–355. https://doi.org/10.1002/ejsp.2155
- Folk, J. B., Stuewig, J., Mashek, D., Tangney, J. P., & Grossmann, J. (2019). Behind bars but connected to family: Evidence for the benefits of family contact during incarceration. *Journal of Family Psychology*, *33*(4), 453–464. https://doi.org/10.1037/fam0000520
- Fullilove, R. E., Cortes, A., Gamarra, R., & Maxis, H. (2020). The Bard prison initiative: Education, incarceration, and public health. *American Journal of Public Health*, 110(S1), S33–S34. https://doi.org/10.2105/ajph.2019.305457
- Garretson, H. (2016). Legislating forgiveness: A study of post-conviction certificates as policy to address the employment consequences of a conviction. *Boston University Public Interest Law Journal*, 25, 1–43.
- Gifford, E. J., Eldred Kozecke, L., Golonka, M., Hill, S. N., Costello, E. J., Shanahan, L., & Copeland, W. E. (2019). Association of parental incarceration with psychiatric

- and functional outcomes of young adults. *JAMA Network Open*, *2*(8), e1910005. https://doi.org/10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2019.10005
- Giménez-Dasí, M., Quintanilla, L., Lucas-Molina, B., & Sarmento-Henrique, R. (2020).

 Six weeks of confinement: Psychological effects on a sample of children in early childhood and primary education. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 11.

 https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2020.590463
- Giordano, P. C., Copp, J. E., Manning, W. D., & Longmore, M. A. (2019). Linking parental incarceration and family dynamics associated with intergenerational transmission: A life□course perspective*. *Criminology*, *57*(3), 395–423. https://doi.org/10.1111/1745-9125.12209
- Glaze, L. E. (2012). Parents in prison and their minor children. Bibliogov.
- Green, D. S., Chuang, S. S., Parke, R. D., & Este, D. C. (2019). Multidimensionality and complexities of fathering: A critical examination of Afro-Jamaican fathers' perspectives. *Sex Roles*, *81*(9-10), 576–593. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11199-019-1012-2
- Guest, G., Bunce, A., & Johnson, L. (2006). How many interviews are enough? An experiment with data saturation and variability. *Field Methods*, *18*(1), 59–82. https://doi.org/10.1177/1525822x05279903
- Hahl, J. M., Alarid, L. F., Harris, R. J., & Firestone, J. M. (2016). Comparing criminal outcomes for children of fathers and mothers who are incarcerated: Dallaire Revisited. *Corrections*, 1(3), 177–195.
 https://doi.org/10.1080/23774657.2016.1183242

- Hammarberg, K., Kirkman, M., & De Lacey, S. (2016). Qualitative research methods:

 When to use them and how to judge them. *Human Reproduction*, *31*(3), 498–501.

 https://doi.org/10.1093/humrep/dev334
- Haney, L. (2018). Incarcerated fatherhood: The entanglements of child support debt and mass imprisonment. *American Journal of Sociology*, 124(1), 1–48. https://doi.org/10.1086/697580
- Harding, D. J., Morenoff, J. D., Nguyen, A. P., Bushway, S. D., & Binswanger, I. A.
 (2019). A natural experiment study of the effects of imprisonment on violence in the community. *Nature Human Behaviour*, *3*(7), 671–677.
 https://doi.org/10.1038/s41562-019-0604-8
- Haskins, A. R., & Jacobsen, W. C. (2017). Schools as surveilling institutions? Paternal incarceration, system avoidance, and parental involvement in schooling.
 American Sociological Review, 82(4), 657–684.
 https://doi.org/10.1177/0003122417709294
- Haskins, A. R., & Turney, K. (2018). The demographic landscape and sociological perspectives on parental incarceration and childhood inequality. *When Parents Are Incarcerated: Interdisciplinary Research and Interventions to Support Children.*, 9–28. https://doi.org/10.1037/0000062-002
- Icard, L. D., Fagan, J., Lee, Y., & Rutledge, S. E. (2014). Father's involvement in the lives of children in foster care. *Child & Family Social Work*, 22(1), 57–66. https://doi.org/10.1111/cfs.12196
- Johns, D. (2018). Confronting the disabling effects of imprisonment: Toward prehabilitation. *Social Justice*, *45*(1 (151)), 27–56.

https://www.jstor.org/stable/26677645?casa_token=gjcdxKhqTqEAAAAA:50t_1 N0j0oNGPfK6davzrLnKzQWLsqq-bg9LqKRrzXyq73HANYdEEVnxzdlnXHL9ZLLWLB0gypSnNdF6KDeq0NejJH i -baExyW6S3SzIPFDwxDdQB25xQ

Kaeble, D., & Alpher, M. (2020, August). Probation and parole in the United States, 2017-2018. Office of Justice Programs.

https://www.ojp.gov/library/publications/probation-and-parole-united-states-

2017-2018

Koehn, A. J., & Kerns, K. A. (2018). Parent–child attachment: Meta-analysis of associations with parenting behaviors in middle childhood and adolescence. *Attachment & Human Development*, *20*(4), 378-405. https://doi.org/10.1080/14616734.2017.1408131

Korstjens, I and Moser, A. (2018) Series: Practical guidance to qualitative research. Part 4: Trustworthiness and publishing, European Journal of General Practice, 24:1, 120-124, DOI: 10.1080/13814788.2017.1375092

- Keefe, R. H., Lane, S. D., Rubinstein, R. A., Carter, D., Bryant, T., & Thomas, M. D.
 (2017). African American fathers: Disproportionate incarceration and the meaning of involvement. *Families in Society: The Journal of Contemporary Social Services*, 98(2), 89–96. https://doi.org/10.1606/1044-3894.2017.98.13
- Kerrison, E. M. (2018). Exploring how prison-based drug rehabilitation programming shapes racial disparities in substance use disorder recovery. *Social Science & Medicine*, *199*, 140–147. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.socscimed.2017.08.002

- Kisely S, Kendall E. Critically appraising qualitative research: A guide for clinicians more familiar with quantitative techniques. *Australasian Psychiatry*. 2011;19(4):364-367. doi:10.3109/10398562.2011.562508
- Kjellstrand, J., Yu, G., Eddy, J. M., & Clark, M. (2019). Children with incarcerated parents and developmental trajectories of internalizing problems across adolescence. *American Journal of Criminal Justice*, 45. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12103-019-09494-4
- Kopak, A. M., & Smith-Ruiz, D. (2015). Criminal justice involvement, Drug use, and depression among African American children of incarcerated parents. *Race and Justice*, *6*(2), 89–116. https://doi.org/10.1177/2153368715586633
- Kovera, M. B. (2019). Racial disparities in the criminal justice system: Prevalence, causes, and a search for solutions. *Journal of Social Issues*, 75(4), 1139–1164. https://doi.org/10.1111/josi.12355
- Lamb, M. E., & Stevenson, M. B. (1978). Father-infant relationships: Their nature and importance. *Youth & Society*, *9*(3), 277–298. https://doi.org/10.1177/0044118x7800900303
- Learning Theories. (2016, July 27). *Attachment theory (Bowlby) learning theories*.

 Learning theories. https://www.learning-theories.com/attachment-theory-bowlby.html
- Leath, S. (2017). Being better than my dad. *SAGE Open*, 7(1), 215824401769716. https://doi.org/10.1177/2158244017697163
- Lemmons, B. P., & Johnson, W. E. (2019). Game changers: A critical race theory analysis of the economic, social, and political factors impacting black fatherhood

- and family formation. *Social Work in Public Health*, *34*(1), 86–101. https://doi.org/10.1080/19371918.2018.1562406
- Lewis, D., & Hong, P. Y. P. (2020). Incapacitated fatherhood: The impact of mass incarceration on black father identity. *Qualitative Criminology*, 8(3). https://doi.org/10.21428/88de04a1.09b4b7aa
- Liang, X., & Sritharan, S. (2018). Effects of confinement in circular hollow concrete columns. *Journal of Structural Engineering*, *144*(9), 04018159. https://doi.org/10.1061/(asce)st.1943-541x.0002151
- M. Frankel, Kelly J. Devers, R. (2000). Study design in qualitative research-1:
 Developing questions and assessing resource needs. *Education for Health:* Change in Learning & Practice, 13(2), 251–261.
 https://doi.org/10.1080/13576280050074534
- MacDonald, K. (1992). Warmth as a developmental construct: An evolutionary analysis. *Child Development*, 63(4), 753. https://doi.org/10.2307/1131231
- Martin, E. (2017). *Hidden consequences: The impact of incarceration on dependent children*. National Institute of Justice. https://nij.ojp.gov/topics/articles/hidden-consequences-impact-incarceration-dependent-children
- Mattis, J. S., McWayne, C. M., Palmer, G. J. M., Johnson, M. S., & Sparks, H. L. (2021). Color him father: Generative parenting among low-income, urban-residing, coresidential black fathers. *Psychology of Men & Masculinities*, *22*(3), 455–465. https://doi.org/10.1037/men0000300

- McCarthy, D., & Adams, M. (2017). "Yes, I can still parent. until I die, he will always be my son": Parental responsibility in the wake of child incarceration. *Punishment & Society*, 21(1), 89–106. https://doi.org/10.1177/1462474517745892
- McKay, T., Feinberg, R., Landwehr, J., Payne, J., Comfort, M., Lindquist, C. H., Kennedy, E. K., & Bir, A. (2018). "Always having hope": Father–child relationships after reentry from prison. *Journal of Offender Rehabilitation*, *57*(2), 162–187. https://doi.org/10.1080/10509674.2018.1441206
- McLeod, B. A., Johnson, W. E., Cryer-Coupet, Q. R., & Mincy, R. B. (2019). Examining the longitudinal effects of paternal incarceration and coparenting relationships on sons' educational outcomes: A mediation analysis. *Children and Youth Services Review*, 100, 362–375. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.childyouth.2019.03.010
- McLeod, B., & Tirmazi, T. (2017). Paternal dimensions and complexities: Understanding the relationships between parental dyads and fathers' involvement among black fathers with criminal records. *Journal of Family Social Work*, 20(5), 376–398. https://doi.org/10.1080/10522158.2017.1283653
- Mcleod, S. (2017, February 5). *Attachment theory*. Simplypsychology.org; Simply Psychology. https://www.simplypsychology.org/attachment.html
- McMunn, A., Martin, P., Kelly, Y., & Sacker, A. (2015). Fathers' involvement: correlates and consequences for child socio-emotional behavior in the United Kingdom.

 Journal of Family Issues*, 38(8), 1109–1131.

 https://doi.org/10.1177/0192513x15622415

- Mears, D. P., & Siennick, S. E. (2015). Young adult outcomes and the life-course penalties of parental incarceration. *Journal of Research in Crime and Delinquency*, *53*(1), 3–35. https://doi.org/10.1177/0022427815592452
- Merriam, S. B., & Tisdell, E. J. (2016). *Qualitative research: A guide to design and implementation* (4th ed.). Jossey-Bass, Cop.
- Merriam-Webster Dictionary. (2019). *Merriam-Webster dictionary*. Merriam-Webster.com. https://www.merriam-webster.com/.
- Moore, A. (2015, February 17). *The Black male incarceration problem is real and it's catastrophic*. HuffPost; HuffPost. https://www.huffpost.com/entry/black-mass-incarceration-statistics_b_6682564
- Mouarrawis, V., Plessius, R., van der Vlugt, J. I., & Reek, J. N. H. (2018). Confinement effects in catalysis using well-defined materials and cages. *Frontiers in Chemistry*, 6. https://doi.org/10.3389/fchem.2018.00623
- Muentner, L., Holder, N., Burnson, C., Runion, H., Weymouth, L., & Poehlmann-Tynan, J. (2018). Jailed parents and their young children: Residential instability, homelessness, and behavior problems. *Journal of Child and Family Studies*, 28(2), 370–386. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10826-018-1265-3
- NAACP. (2021, May 24). *Criminal justice fact sheet* | *NAACP*. Naacp.org. https://naacp.org/resources/criminal-justice-fact-sheet
- National Center for Fathers. (n.d.). *Our history*. National Center for Fathering. https://fathers.com/about-ncf/our-history/
- National Institute of Justice. (n.d.). *Hidden consequences: The impact of incarceration on dependent children*. National Institute of Justice.

- https://nij.ojp.gov/topics/articles/hidden-consequences-impact-incarceration-dependent-children#noteReference22
- National Responsible Fatherhood Clearing House. (n.d.). *About us*. Fatherhood.gov. https://www.fatherhood.gov/about-us
- NeMoyer, A., Wang, Y., Alvarez, K., Canino, G., Duarte, C. S., Bird, H., & Alegría, M. (2019). Parental incarceration during childhood and later delinquent outcomes among Puerto Rican adolescents and young adults in two contexts. *Law and Human Behavior*, *44*(2). https://doi.org/10.1037/lhb0000354
- Nielsen, L. (2019). *Father-Daughter relationships*. Routledge. https://doi.org/10.4324/9780429279133
- Norris, S., Pecenco, M., & Weaver, J. (2020). The effects of parental and sibling incarceration: Evidence from ohio. *SSRN Electronic Journal*. https://doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.3590735
- O'Neill, L. (2020, November 27). *The racist origins of the war on drugs*. The Green Fund. https://thegreenfund.com/the-racist-origins-of-the-war-on-drugs
- Palinkas, L. A. (2013). Purposeful sampling for qualitative data collection and analysis in mixed method implementation research. *Administration and Policy in Mental Health and Mental Health Services Research*, 42(5), 533–544. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10488-013-0528-y
- Parke, R. D., & Cookston, J. T. (2019). Fathers and families. *Handbook of Parenting*, *3*, 64–136. https://doi.org/10.4324/9780429433214-3

- Parkes, A., & Donson, F. (2018). Developing a child's right to effective contact with a father in prison—an irish perspective. *Child Care in Practice*, *24*(2), 148–163. https://doi.org/10.1080/13575279.2017.1420039
- Percy, W., Kostere, K., & Kostere, S. (2015). Generic qualitative research in psychology. *The Qualitative Report*, 20(2), 76–85. http://nsuworks.nova.edu/tqr/vol20/iss2/7
- Perry, A., & Lewis, S. (2016). Leaving legacies: African American men discuss the impact of their fathers on the development of their own paternal attitudes and behavior. *Journal of Family Social Work*, *19*(1), 3–21. https://doi.org/10.1080/10522158.2015.1112332
- Pettit, B., & Gutierrez, C. (2018). Mass incarceration and racial inequality. *American Journal of Economics and Sociology*, 77(3-4), 1153–1182. https://doi.org/10.1111/ajes.12241
- Pettit, B., & Sykes, B. (2017, November 30). *Pettit/Sykes 2017 incarceration report*. The Marshall Project. https://www.themarshallproject.org/documents/4316517-Pettit-Sykes-2017-incarceration-report
- Phelps, M. S. (2016). Mass probation: Toward a more robust theory of state variation in punishment. *Punishment & Society*, *19*(1), 53–73. https://doi.org/10.1177/1462474516649174
- Phillippi, J., & Lauderdale, J. (2017). A guide to field notes for qualitative research:

 Context and conversation. *Qualitative Health Research*, 28(3), 381–388.

 https://doi.org/10.1177/1049732317697102

- Pinto, T. M., Figueiredo, B., & Feinberg, M. E. (2018). The coparenting relationship scale—father's prenatal version. *Journal of Adult Development*, 26(3). https://doi.org/10.1007/s10804-018-9308-y
- Pleck, J. H. (2007). Why could father involvement benefit children? Theoretical perspectives. *Applied Developmental Science*, *11*(4), 196–202. https://doi.org/10.1080/10888690701762068
- Poehlmann Tynan, J., & Turney, K. (2020). A developmental perspective on children with incarcerated parents. *Child Development Perspectives*, *15*(1). https://doi.org/10.1111/cdep.12392
- Powers, E. (1948). Review of forty-four juvenile thieves: Their characters and home-life. *The Journal of Abnormal and Social Psychology*, *43*(4), 561–563. https://doi.org/10.1037/h0053167
- Rambert, O. (2021). The absent black father: Race, the welfare-child support system, and the cyclical nature of fatherlessness. https://www.uclalawreview.org/wp-content/uploads/securepdfs/2021/08/Rambert-Final-Article-Pages_no-bleed.pdf
- Romero, E., López-Romero, L., Domínguez-Álvarez, B., Villar, P., & Gómez-Fraguela, J. A. (2020). Testing the effects of COVID-19 confinement in Spanish children: The role of parents' distress, emotional problems and specific parenting.

 *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health, 17(19), 6975. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph17196975
- Roubinov, D. S., Luecken, L. J., Gonzales, N. A., & Crnic, K. A. (2016). Father involvement in Mexican-origin families: Preliminary development of a culturally

- informed measure. *Cultural Diversity and Ethnic Minority Psychology*, *22*(2), 277–287. https://doi.org/10.1037/cdp0000063
- Sandberg, S., Agoff, C., & Fondevila, G. (2020). Stories of the "good father": The role of fatherhood among incarcerated men in Mexico. *Punishment & Society*, 22(2), 146247452096982. https://doi.org/10.1177/1462474520969822
- Scharfe, E. (2017). Attachment theory. *Encyclopedia of Evolutionary Psychological Science*, 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-16999-6_3823-1
- Sekaran, U., & Bougie, R. (2016). Research methods for business: A skill-building approach (7th ed.). Chichester, West Sussex, United Kingdom John Wiley & Sons.
- Sentino, P., Thompson, P. L., Nugent, W. R., & Freeman, D. (2018). Adolescent daughters' perceptions of their fathers' levels of communication and care: How these variables influence female adolescent sexual behaviors. *Journal of Human Behavior in the Social Environment*, 28(5), 632–646. https://doi.org/10.1080/10911359.2018.1449693
- Shlafer, R. J., Davis, L., Hindt, L., Weymouth, L., Cuthrell, H., Burnson, C., & Poehlmann-Tynan, J. (2020). Fathers in jail and their minor children: Paternal characteristics and associations with father-child contact. *Journal of Child and Family Studies*, *29*(3), 791–801. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10826-020-01696-3
- Shlafer, R. J., Reedy, T., & Davis, L. (2017). School-based outcomes among youth with incarcerated parents: Differences by school setting. *The Journal of School Health*, 87(9), 687–695. https://doi.org/10.1111/josh.12539

- Siennick, S. E. (2014). Parental incarceration and intergenerational transfers to young adults. *Journal of Family Issues*, *37*(10), 1433–1457. https://doi.org/10.1177/0192513x14550366
- Skinner-Osei, P., & Stepteau-Watson, D. (2017). A qualitative analysis of African American fathers' struggle with reentry, recidivism, and reunification after participation in re-entry programs. *Journal of Human Behavior in the Social Environment*, 28(2), 240–255. https://doi.org/10.1080/10911359.2017.1402724
- Smith, M. D. (2017, January 10). The dangerous myth of the "missing black father." *The Washington Post*.
 - https://www.washingtonpost.com/posteverything/wp/2017/01/10/the-dangerous-myth-of-the-missing-black-father/
- Strand, P. S., Vossen, J. J., & Savage, E. (2019). Culture and child attachment patterns: A behavioral systems synthesis. *Perspectives on Behavior Science*, *42*(4), 835–850. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40614-019-00220-3
- Stockdale, A. (2002). Social research update 38: Tools for digital audio recording.

 Sru.soc.surrey.ac.uk. https://sru.soc.surrey.ac.uk/SRU38.html
- Strom, A., Li, L., & Lan, H. (2019). Rock avalanche mobility: Optimal characterization and the effects of confinement. *Landslides*, *16*(8), 1437–1452. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10346-019-01181-z
- Tasca, M. (2018). The (dis)continuity of parenthood among incarcerated fathers: An analysis of caregivers' accounts. *Child Care in Practice*, *24*(2), 131–147. https://doi.org/10.1080/13575279.2017.1420040

- Tenny, S., Brannan, G. D., & Sharts-Hopko, N. C. (2017, December 22). *Qualitative study*. Europepmc.org; StatPearls Publishing.

 https://europepmc.org/article/NBK/nbk470395#free-full-text
- Thomas, A.; Wirth, J.C.; Poehlmann-Tynan, J.; Pate, D.J., Jr. "When She Says Daddy": Black
 - fathers' recidivism following reentry from jail. *Int. J. Environ. Res. Public Health* **2022**, *19*, 3518. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph19063518
- Thomson, N. D., Moeller, F. G., Amstadter, A. B., Svikis, D., Perera, R. A., & Bjork, J. M. (2020). The impact of parental incarceration on psychopathy, crime, and prison violence in women. *International Journal of Offender Therapy and Comparative Criminology*, 64(10-11), 1178–1194.
 https://doi.org/10.1177/0306624x20904695
- Turney, K. (2018). Adverse childhood experiences among children of incarcerated parents. *Children and Youth Services Review*, 89, 218–225. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.childyouth.2018.04.033
- Turney, K. (2019, July 3). Understanding the needs of children with incarcerated parents.

 American Federation of Teachers. https://www.aft.org/ae/summer2019/turney
- Turney, K., & Lanuza, Y. R. (2017). Parental incarceration and the transition to adulthood. *Journal of Marriage and Family*, 79(5), 1314–1330. https://doi.org/10.1111/jomf.12429
- Tyrell, F. A., & Masten, A. S. (2021). Father-child attachment in Black families: Risk and protective processes. *Attachment & Human Development*, 1–13. https://doi.org/10.1080/14616734.20

21.1976923

- United States Drug Enforcement Administration. (n.d.). *The controlled substances act*.

 Www.dea.gov. https://www.dea.gov/drug-information/csa
- Valadez, M. de los D., López-Aymes, G., Ruvalcaba, N. A., Flores, F., Ortíz, G., Rodríguez, C., & Borges, Á. (2020). Emotions and reactions to the confinement by COVID-19 of children and adolescents with high abilities and community samples: A mixed methods research study. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 11. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2020.585587
- van IJzendoorn, M. (2019). Attachment | attachment at an early age (0-5) and its impact on children's development | encyclopedia on early childhood development.

 Encyclopedia on Early Childhood Development. http://www.child-encyclopedia.com/attachment/according-experts/attachment-early-age-0-5-and-its-impact-childrens-development
- van Rosmalen, L., van der Horst, F. C. P., & van der Veer, R. (2016). From secure dependency to attachment: Mary Ainsworth's integration of blatz's security theory into Bowlby's attachment theory. *History of Psychology*, *19*(1), 22–39. https://doi.org/10.1037/hop0000015
- Vasileiou, K., Barnett, J., Thorpe, S., & Young, T. (2018). Characterizing and justifying sample size sufficiency in interview-based studies: Systematic analysis of qualitative health research over a 15-year period. *BMC Medical Research Methodology*, 18(1). https://doi.org/10.1186/s12874-018-0594-7
- Vaughn, B. E., Waters, T. E. A., Steele, R. D., Roisman, G. I., Bost, K. K., Truitt, W., Waters, H. S., & Booth-Laforce, C. (2016). Multiple domains of parental secure

- base support during childhood and adolescence contribute to adolescents' representations of attachment as a secure base script. *Attachment & Human Development*, *18*(4), 317–336. https://doi.org/10.1080/14616734.2016.1162180
- Voith, L. A., Topitzes, J., & Berg, K. A. (2020). The transmission of violence and trauma across development and environmental contexts: Intimate partner violence from the perspective of men with histories of perpetration. *Child Abuse & Neglect*, *99*, 104267. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chiabu.2019.104267
- Wagner, P., & Rabuy, B. (2017). *Mass incarceration: The whole pie 2017*. http://www.antoniocasella.eu/nume/Wagner_Rabuy_14mar17.pdf
- Wakefield, S., & Wildeman, C. (2018). How parental incarceration harms children and what to do about it. National Council on Family Relations, Policy Brief. https://www.ncfr.org/sites/default/files/2018-01/How%20Parental%20Incarceration%20Harms%20Children%20NCFR%20Policy Exec%20Summary Jan.%202018.pdf
- Walker, J. L. (2012). The use of saturation in qualitative research. *Canadian Journal of Cardiovascular Nursing = Journal Canadien En Soins Infirmiers Cardio-Vasculaires*, 22(2), 37–46. https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/22803288/
- Wang, G., Zhang, Y., Zhao, J., Zhang, J., & Jiang, F. (2020). Mitigate the effects of home confinement on children during the COVID-19 outbreak. *The Lancet*, 395(10228), 945–947. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(20)30547-X
- Warren, J. M., Coker, G. L., & Collins, M. L. (2019). Children of incarcerated parents:

 Considerations for professional school counselors. *The Professional Counselor*,

 9(3), 185–199. https://doi.org/10.15241/jmw.9.3.185

- Washington, H. M. (2018). Paternal incarceration and children's social-emotional functioning at age nine: Why fathers' violence matters. *Sociological Focus*, *51*(4), 318–334. https://doi.org/10.1080/00380237.2018.1446618
- Washington, H. M., Juan, S.-C., & Haskins, A. R. (2018). Incapacitated involvement:

 Incarceration and fatherhood in fragile families at age 9. *Journal of Family Issues*,

 39(13), 3463–3486. https://doi.org/10.1177/0192513x18783225
- Waters, T. E. A., Raby, K. L., Ruiz, S. K., Martin, J., & Roisman, G. I. (2018). Adult attachment representations and the quality of romantic and parent–child relationships: An examination of the contributions of coherence of discourse and secure base script knowledge. *Developmental Psychology*, *54*(12), 2371–2381. https://doi.org/10.1037/dev0000607
- Welch, N., Negash, S., Nino, A., Ayres, K., & Woolley, S. (2019). Through their lens:

 The parental experience of formerly incarcerated black fathers. *Journal of Offender Rehabilitation*, *58*(6), 500–519.

 https://doi.org/10.1080/10509674.2019.1621416
- Western, B., & Smith, N. (2018). Formerly incarcerated parents and their children.

 *Demography, 55(3), 823–847. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13524-018-0677-4
- Williams, D. R., Lawrence, J. A., & Davis, B. A. (2019). Racism and health: Evidence and needed research. *Annual Review of Public Health*, 40(1), 105–125. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-publhealth-040218-043750
- Williams, J. M., Wilson, S. K., & Bergeson, C. (2019). "It's hard out here if you're a black felon": A critical examination of black male reentry. *The Prison Journal*, 99(4), 437–458. https://doi.org/10.1177/0032885519852088

- Yaros, A., Ramirez, D., Tueller, S., McKay, T., Lindquist, C. H., Helburn, A., Feinberg, R., & Bir, A. (2018). Child well-being when fathers return from prison. *Journal of Offender Rehabilitation*, *57*(2), 144–161. https://doi.org/10.1080/10509674.2018.1441204
- Yogman, M., & Garfield, C. F. (2016). Fathers' roles in the care and development of their children: The role of pediatricians. *Pediatrics*, *138*(1), e20161128–e20161128. https://doi.org/10.1542/peds.2016-1128

Appendix A: Flyer

A new study looking for previous incarcerated African American adult fathers with daughters. Must been released within the last 5-15 years

A new study is geared towards African American fathers who are ex-offenders and have a daughter. This study is called "Parenting Black Daughters: The parenting experiences of previously incarcerated African American males." The purpose of the generic qualitative study is to gain an understanding of African American fathers' parenting experience with their daughters.

This study is part of a doctoral research study by Sarai Hollis, Ph. D student at Walden University

About the study:

- One structured interview 45-60 minutes
- Real names will not be used in the study
- Interviews can be completed by phone, video chat, or in-person

Criteria needed to participate:

- must be an ex-offender
- must have a daughter
- must be an adult African American male
- must be released from prison within the last 5-15 years

Appendix B: Consent form

CONSENT FORM

You are invited to participate in a research study on providing parenting experiences of previously incarcerated African American fathers and daughters. This form is part of a process called "informed consent" to allow you to understand this study before deciding whether to take part.

This study seeks 8-10 volunteers who meet the following criteria:

- Must be an ex-offender
- Must have a daughter
- Must be an adult African American male
- Must have been released from prison within the last 5-15 years

This study is being conducted by a researcher named Sarai Hollis, a doctoral student at Walden University.

Study Purpose:

The purpose of the generic qualitative study is to gain an understanding of previously incarcerated African American fathers' parenting experiences with their daughters.

Procedures:

This study will involve you completing the following steps:

- Conducting an open-ended audio-recorded interview for 45-60 minutes
- Identify the accuracy of the interview transcripts. After all, interviews are complete, a follow-up email will take place to conduct member checking. Member checking is to ascertain information collected is not misinterpreted. This process should take 20-30 minutes to review.

Here are some sample questions

- 1. At what age did you become a father? Was the pregnancy planned?
- 2. What were the ages of your daughter(s) during your time of incarceration?
- 3. Were you active in the first two years of your daughter's life?
 - a. What was that relationship like?
 - b. Was there a secure attachment bond during this time period?

Voluntary Nature of the Study:

Research should only be done with those who freely volunteer. So, everyone involved will respect your decision to join or not.

If you decide to join the study, you can change your mind later. You may stop at any time. The researcher will follow up will each participant to let them know whether or not they were selected for the study.

Risks and Benefits of Being in the Study:

Being in this study could involve some risk of the minor discomforts that can be encountered in daily life, such as sharing sensitive information. With the protections in place, this study would pose minimal risk to your wellbeing.

This study offers no direct benefits to individual volunteers. However, the benefit of this study is to educate the larger community on how incarceration has an impact on the lives of African American fathers and their relationships with their daughters. This study would be beneficial to the Bureau of Prisons to provide incarcerated fathers with parenting education. Once the analysis is complete, the researcher will share the overall results by email a link to the summary.

For participants who may want or need support, you are encouraged to call 211. This is a toll-free resource for support such as counseling.

Payment:

There is no compensation for participating in this study

Privacy:

The researcher is required to protect your privacy. The researcher will not use your personal information for any purposes outside of this research project. Also, the researcher will not include your name or anything else that could identify you in the study reports. If the researcher were to share this dataset with another researcher in the future, the dataset would contain no identifiers so this would not involve another round of obtaining informed consent. Data will be kept secure by data security measures such as a password-protected computer. Data will be kept for a period of at least 5 years, then destroyed.

Contacts and Ouestions:

If you want to talk privately about your rights as a participant or any negative parts of the study, you can call Walden University's Research Participant Advocate at 612-312-1210. Walden University's approval number for this study is **IRB will enter approval number here**. It expires on **IRB will enter expiration date.**

You might wish to retain this consent form for your records. You may ask the researcher or Walden University for a copy at any time using the contact info above.

Obtaining Your Consent

If you understand the study well enough and wish to volunteer, please reply to the email with the words "I Consent" by stating you give your consent to participate in this interview.

Appendix C: Research question, Demographic information, Interview questions

Research question: How does incarceration impact African American fathers' parenting experience with their daughters?

Demographic information:

- How old are you?
- How many children do you have? How many are daughters?
- How many times have you been incarcerated? What was your longest stay?
- How long have you been out since your last incarceration?

Interview questions:

- 1. At what age did you become a father? Was the pregnancy planned?
- 2. What were the ages of your daughter(s) during your time of incarceration?
- 3. Were you active in the first two years of your daughter's life?
 - c. What was that relationship like?
 - d. Was there a secure attachment bond during this time period?
- 4. At what point, if any, do you explain to your daughter why you were incarcerated.
- 5. As a parent, what is one thing that you hope your daughter could understand about you being absent from her life?
- 6. During your time of incarceration, were you able to keep in contact with your daughter? If so, what form of contact (phone, visits, letters)? How often?
- 7. If you had no contact with your daughter while incarcerated, how did that make you feel as a father?
- 8. What are your thoughts on the possibility of your daughter being told negative things about you which may have influenced your father-daughter relationship?
 - a. Do you feel like there was an avoidance that made your daughter look or think of you in a different perspective? Explain.
- 9. Tell me about your parenting style while you were incarcerated.
 - a. How did you enforce your rules?

- b. How much input did you have in the decision-making process of your daughter's life? Please provide some examples. (Example: doctor/dentist visits, school, friends, etc.).
- 10. Tell me about your relationship with your daughter since you have been released from incarceration?
 - a. How was connection, was there a disconnect or uncertain feelings? Please explain.
 - b. How has the relationship grown in a positive or negative way? Please explain
- 11. Based on your absence, what were some issues/behaviors in your daughters' life?
 - a. How would you describe these issues/behaviors which caused her to act out?
 - b. How could these issues/behaviors have been avoided if you were physically present in her life? How might things have been different?
- 12. Would you consider your daughter as a "daddy's girl"? If so, tell me what that means?
- 13. What are your other thoughts, comments, or information that you would like to share before we wrap up this interview?